
 IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

AT NASHVILLE 

 

 

H.B. and S.B. (by their next friend Felicia Burk), MEGHAN LARA (by her next friend Dianne 
Lara), N.L. (by his next friend Dianne Lara),  A.M. (by his next friend Debra Taylor), 
TIMOTHY BUSH (by his next friend Gloria Bush), AMANDA CASEY (by her next friend 
Rhonda Coggins), STEPHANIE DOMM (by her next friend Virginia Domm), DUSTIN 

HOLLIS (by his next friend Nancy Hollis), CHRIS HUGHES (by his next friend Cathy 
Hughes), SCOTT RAPPE (by his next friend Martha Rappe), DUSTIN WOODS (by his next 
friend Mary Mincey), SHANNON PATRICK DOWDY (by his next friend Carolyn Dowdy), 
HUNTER MANNING (by his next friend Dorothy Teague), MISTY DAWN BALLEW (by 
her next friend Mary Ellen Ballew), LATANDRA BISHOP (by her next friend Walterine 
Bishop),  MICHELLE BOSWORTH (by her next friend Lea Bosworth),  JAMESON 

CARVER (by his next friend Sharon Carver), AMANDA CATES (by her next friend Jane 
Cates), JAMES (“JIMMY”) COOPER (by his next friend Ginger Wilburn),  NAKITHA 

DAVIS (by her next friend Mae Frances Boone),  CARRIE EVAMARIE (“MARIE”) 

DUNAWAY (by her next friend Phyllis Dunaway),  MARLEE EATHERLY (by her next 
friend Cindy Eatherly), BROOKE ESSARY (by her next friend Myra Essary), SARAH 

GUNTER (by her next friend Diana Gunter), TANYA HARDEN (by her next friend Virginia 
Clack), DONNIE NELSON (by his next friend Kay Weaver), JACK (“RYAN”) 

PATTERSON (by his next friend Necie Patterson), STEPHANIE PAYNE (by her next friend 
Mary Payne), NIKITA ROBINSON (by her next friend Charlotte Robinson), JAIME LYNN 

SHARPE (by her next friend Marilyn Sharpe), STEPHANIE SMITH (by her next friend Phil 
Smith), MICHAEL SPAULDING, JR. (by his next friend Elaine Spaulding), CHARLES, 

DEANNA, AND THERESA STEINER (by their next friend Karen Steiner), KRISTINA 

STEVENS (by her next friend Michael Stevens), SANDRA GAIL TURNER (by her next 
friend John Douglas Turner), and RAYMOND “TONY” WALKER (by his next friend 
Raymond Walker); and PEOPLE FIRST, INC., a Tennessee non-profit corporation;   
  

Plaintiffs,  
v.        NO. _________________ 
 
 
MARK EMKES, Commissioner, Tennessee Department of Finance and  
Administration; DARIN GORDON, Deputy Commissioner and Director,  
Bureau of TennCare; PATTI KILLINGSWORTH, Assistant Commissioner,  
Chief of Long-Term Care, Bureau of TennCare; JAMES HENRY,  
Commissioner, Tennessee Department of Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities,  
     
 Defendants.   

              

 

COMPLAINT 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiffs, who are children and adults with severe developmentally and 

intellectually disabilities, and a non-profit organization providing services to Tennessee residents 

with disabilities, seek to enjoin the implementation of arbitrary limitations on nursing services 

and personal assistance services, e.g., direct assistance with virtually all activities of daily living 

(hereafter referred to as “ADL services”), by the Tennessee Department of Intellectual and 

Developmental Disabilities (“DIDD”).  As a result of the implementation of these arbitrary 

limitations, named Plaintiffs will not be able to continue to receive necessary ADL services in 

their family homes. They will not be able to continue to live with family, to associate with 

neighbors and friends, and to participate in their community life.   

2. Defendants’ implementation and enforcement of the arbitrary limitations will 

force named Plaintiffs to move out of their homes and away from their families and into 

segregated housing with other disabled persons in order to receive the same services named 

Plaintiffs currently receive in their family homes.   

3. If named Plaintiffs refuse to move into the segregated housing and away from 

their families to receive these services, Defendants either will stop providing the necessary and 

essential in-home ADL and nursing services that Plaintiffs have been receiving or will disenroll 

Plaintiffs from the Medicaid Waiver Programs for the intellectually and developmentally 

disabled (“DIDD Waiver”).   

4. Defendants’ application and implementation of limitations on in-home ADL 

services and nursing services violates the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), Title II, 42 

U.S.C. § 12132, and its implementing regulations, and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act 

(“Section 504”), 29 U.S.C. § 794(a), and its implementing regulations.  Among other things, the 
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ADA and Section 504 require the Defendants to provide DIDD Waiver services and administer 

programs in a manner that does not unnecessarily segregate named Plaintiffs.  

5. Plaintiff People First, a non-profit corporation that provides services to persons 

with disabilities, brings this action against the Defendants for their failure to ensure adequate in-

home ADL and nursing services to persons with disabilities living with their families who do not 

wish to be segregated as a condition of receiving such services. Such segregation violates of Title 

II of the ADA and Section 504.  

6. Plaintiffs seek declaratory and injunctive relief against Defendants to enjoin them 

from implementing the limitations for in-home ADL and nursing services and, if necessary, 

require them to reinstate services that were illegally reduced, terminated, or denied until 

Defendants comply with the ADA and Section 504. 

EFFECT OF LIMITS ON PLAINTIFFS 

7.  Named Plaintiffs have very limited income.  They are eligible for and currently 

receive their health care services through TennCare, Tennessee’s Medicaid program, and other 

services needed to remain with their families and communities through the DIDD Waiver. The 

DIDD Waiver is a home and community-based waiver program authorized by Medicaid. 42 

U.S.C. § 1396n(c); 42 C.F.R. §§ 441.300-310.   Waiver programs enable states to provide 

services for people who would otherwise require the level of care provided in nursing facilities 

and/or other institutional settings.  42 U.S.C. § 1396n(c)(1).    

8. Named Plaintiffs have severe developmental, intellectual, and physical 

disabilities, including cerebral palsy, mental retardation, autism, and spastic quadriplegia. Each 

Plaintiff has been determined by Defendants to be severely disabled and to meet the criteria for 

admission to an institution.   
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9. Prior to the proposed limits, each named Plaintiff had been determined by 

Defendants to need more than 215 hours of in-home ADL services per month and/or more than 

one assistant at a time in order to reside safely in their homes.  For some named Plaintiffs, 

Defendants determined that they also required more than 12 hours per day nursing services to 

reside safely in their homes.  For many named Plaintiffs, in addition to the DIDD Waiver 

services, their parents or other family members provide as much assistance and informal unpaid 

support as they can, given their work schedules, own impairments, and other family 

responsibilities.  

10. The limitations to be implemented by DIDD place a “hard cap” on in-home ADL 

services at 215 hours per month (7.14 hours a day) and in-home nursing services at 12 hours per 

day.  The limitations also eliminate the availability of two personal attendants for individuals 

who require more than one assistant at a time.    

11. Because named Plaintiffs require more in-home ADL services and/or nursing 

services than are permitted under the Defendants’ new limitations, Plaintiffs will be forced to 

move out of their family homes and into segregated housing with other disabled persons. 

However, Plaintiffs will continue to require the same ADL services and/or nursing services 

outside of their family homes in order to be safe or to survive.  

12. These necessary ADL services are available to named Plaintiffs through the 

DIDD Waiver if they leave their families and move to group settings or other residential 

placements. These services are called Supported Living services (ADL services provided outside 

the family home) or Medical Residential services (nursing services provided outside the family 

home). They are the same services named Plaintiffs receive in their homes with their families. 

The Supported Living services provide 24 hour paid coverage of necessary ADL services and 
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would replace any uncompensated care currently provided by family members. Medical 

Residential services would provide 24 hour paid coverage of necessary care (nursing and ADL 

services) and would replace any uncompensated care currently provided by family members.  

Under Defendants’ current rules, neither of these waiver services may be provided to Plaintiffs if 

they are living in their family home.  

13. As applied by Defendants, the limitations deprive Plaintiffs of services that, with 

reasonable accommodations, would enable them to remain in their own homes with their families 

and in their own communities at no additional cost to Defendants. 

14. Defendants’ violation of its statutory and regulatory obligations directly and 

concretely injure Plaintiff People First, by requiring People First to advocate for the development 

and improvement of nondiscriminatory appropriate and adequate in-home, community-based 

ADL and nursing services, instead of spending its time and resources assisting persons with 

disabilities with other issues, including accessible and affordable housing, public transportation, 

and equal employment opportunities and access to places of public accommodation.  

15. People First is also directly and concretely harmed by Defendants’ failure to 

provide appropriate and adequate in-home, community-based ADL and nursing services because 

other persons with disabilities who will be forced to live in segregated settings in order to receive 

these services will be unable to travel to and from meetings, programs and advocacy activities 

which further curtails the organizational activities and goals.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

16. The Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claims under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 

1343(a)(3) and (4).  Plaintiffs seek declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, and other appropriate 

relief, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201, 2202, Fed. R. Civ. P. 57, 65, and 42 U.S. C. § 1983.  
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Plaintiffs’ causes of action for disability discrimination are authorized by 42 U.S.C. § 12133 and 

29 U.S.C. § 794(a).   

17. Venue is proper because a substantial part of the actions and omissions giving rise 

to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in this District.  28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).   

PARTIES 

Named Plaintiffs 

18. Plaintiff H. B. is a 13-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver participant 

who lives in Murfreesboro, Tennessee. 

19. Plaintiff S. B. is a 7-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver participant 

who lives in Murfreesboro, Tennessee. 

20. Plaintiff Meghan Lara is a 19-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Shelbyville, Tennessee. 

21. Plaintiff N. L. is a 13-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver participant 

who lives in Shelbyville, Tennessee. 

22. Plaintiff A. M. is a 10-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver participant 

who lives in Memphis, Tennessee. 

23. Plaintiff Timothy Bush is a 41-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Manchester, Tennessee. 

24. Plaintiff Amanda D. Casey is a 31-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives Telford, Tennessee.  

25. Plaintiff Stephanie Domm is a 20-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Germantown, Tennessee. 
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26. Dustin Scott Hollis is s 25-five-year old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Cunningham, Tennessee.  

27. Plaintiff Chris Hughes is a 35-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Duff, Tennessee. 

28. Plaintiff Scott Rappe is a 27-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Franklin, Tennessee. 

29. Plaintiff Dustin Woods is a 23-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Maynardville, Tennessee. 

30. Plaintiff Shannon Patrick Dowdy is a 32-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD 

Waiver participant who lives in Clarksville, Tennessee. 

31. Plaintiff Hunter R. Manning is a 24-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD 

Waiver participant who lives in Calhoun, Tennessee. 

32. Plaintiff  Misty Dawn Ballew is a 48-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD 

Waiver participant who lives in Knoxville, Tennessee. 

33. Plaintiff Latandra Bishop is a 37-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Memphis, Tennessee. 

34. Plaintiff Michelle Bosworth is a 43-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD 

Waiver participant who lives in Chattanooga, Tennessee. 

35. Plaintiff Jameson Carver is a 23-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Nashville, Tennessee. 

36. Plaintiff Amanda Cates is a 28-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Cowan, Tennessee. 
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37. Plaintiff James (“Jimmy”) Cooper is a 52-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD 

Waiver participant who lives in Murfreesboro, Tennessee. 

38. Plaintiff Nakitha Davis is a 45-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Memphis, Tennessee.   

39. Plaintiff Carrie Evamarie (“Marie”) Dunaway is a 31-year-old Medicaid recipient 

and DIDD Waiver participant who lives in Madison, Tennessee. 

40. Plaintiff Marlee Eatherly is a 19-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Mount Juliet, Tennessee. 

41. Plaintiff Brooke Essary is a 20-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Shelbyville, Tennessee. 

42. Plaintiff Sarah Gunter is a 20-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Deer Lodge, Tennessee. 

43. Plaintiff Tanya Harden is a 51-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Chattanooga, Tennessee. 

44. Plaintiff Donnie Nelson is a 36-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Powell, Tennessee. 

45. Plaintiff Jack (“Ryan”) Patterson is a 33-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD 

Waiver participant who lives in Goodlettsville, Tennessee. 

46. Plaintiff  Stephanie Payne is a 44-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Memphis, Tennessee. 

47. Plaintiff Nikita Robinson is a 46-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Oak Ridge, Tennessee. 
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48. Plaintiff Jaime Lynn Sharpe is a 34-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD 

Waiver participant who lives in Hampshire, Tennessee. 

49. Plaintiff Stephanie Smith is a 51-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Murfreesboro, Tennessee. 

50. Plaintiff Michael Spaulding, Jr. is a 36-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD 

Waiver participant who lives in Thompson Station, Tennessee. 

51. Plaintiff Charles Steiner is a 37-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Brentwood, Tennessee. 

52. Plaintiff Deanna Steiner is a 23-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Brentwood, Tennessee. 

53. Plaintiff Theresa Steiner is a 28-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Brentwood, Tennessee. 

54. Plaintiff Sandra Gail Turner is a 42-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD 

Waiver participant who lives in Whitwell, Tennessee.  

55. Plaintiff Kristina Stevens is a 22-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD Waiver 

participant who lives in Tullahoma, Tennessee 

56. Plaintiff Raymond “Tony” Walker is a 29-year-old Medicaid recipient and DIDD 

Waiver participant who lives in Harriman, Tennessee. 

Organizational Plaintiff 

57. Plaintiff People First is a nonprofit organization that advocates for the civil rights 

of and provides services to persons with disabilities. People First is open to anyone who has a 

disability.  
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58.   Plaintiff People First’s mission is to assist persons with disabilities to achieve 

equality with nondisabled persons.  It also advocates on behalf of and with persons with 

disabilities to eradicate discrimination against people with disabilities in all aspects of life, 

including the elimination of segregated services in Tennessee.  

59.  Plaintiff People First was founded in 1981 and incorporated in 1984 as a non-

profit Tennessee corporation.  It has approximately 1,100 members statewide with approximately 

thirty chapters in twenty-eight counties.  Its members want to be able to receive ADL and 

nursing services in their own homes with their families and not be forced to move into 

segregated settings with only other disabled people.  As defined by the ADA and Section 504, 

persons who are members of and participate with People First and who have these disabilities are 

“handicapped” with impairments and are “otherwise qualified” to receive ADL and nursing 

services in their homes with their parents. Some persons who have impairments and who seek 

People First’s assistance and/or participate in People First’s meetings and other activities are and 

will continue to be personally, directly and significantly injured by Defendants’ refusal to 

comply with the ADA and Section 504.  

Defendants 

60. Defendant Mark Emkes is the Commissioner of the Tennessee Department of 

Finance and Administration (“TDFA”).  He is responsible for supervising Darin Gordon, the 

Director of the Bureau.  Commissioner Emkes is responsible for implementing and managing the 

Tennessee Medicaid program, including contracts with Managed Care Organizations, and 

Tennessee’s Medicaid MR Waiver Program consistent with federal law, including the Americans 

with Disabilities Act and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. Defendant Emkes is sued in his 

official capacity.  
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61. Defendant Darin Gordon is the Deputy Commissioner of the Tennessee 

Department of Finance and Administration and is the Director of the Bureau of TennCare 

(“Bureau”).  He is responsible for day-to-day management of TennCare consistent with federal 

law, including the ADA and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. Defendant Gordon is sued in 

his official capacity. 

62. Defendant Patti Killingsworth is the Assistant Commissioner of the Tennessee 

Department of Finance and Administration and Chief of Long-Term Care.  She is responsible for 

implementing and managing Tennessee’s Medicaid Long-Term Care programs, including 

Tennessee’s contract with DIDD to operate Tennessee’s MR Waiver Program consistent with 

federal law, including the ADA and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. Defendant 

Killingsworth is sued in her official capacity.  

63. Defendant James Henry is the Commissioner of DIDD.  He is responsible for day-

to-day management of the MR Waiver Program consistent with federal law, including the ADA 

and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. Defendant Henry is sued in his official capacity. 

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) 

64. Title II of the ADA provides that “no qualified individual with a disability shall, 

by reason of disability, be excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the 

services, programs, or activities of a public entity or be subjected to discrimination by such 

entity.”  42 U.S.C. § 12132. 

65. Regulations implementing Title II of the ADA prohibit discrimination, including 

providing uncapped ADL and nursing services in unnecessarily segregated, separate settings, 28 

C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(1)(iv), and limiting the right and opportunity to reside with family as a 

condition of receiving needed ADL and nursing services, 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(1)(vii).  
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66. ADA regulations require that a public entity administer its services, programs and 

activities in “the most integrated setting appropriate”-- not unnecessarily segregated settings -- to 

the needs of qualified individuals with disabilities.  28 C.F.R. § 35.130(d). 

67. ADA regulations implementing Title II also provide that “a public entity may not, 

directly or through contractual or other arrangements, utilize criteria or other methods of 

administration:  (i) that have the effect of subjecting qualified individuals with disabilities to 

discrimination on the basis of disability; [or] (ii) that have the purpose or effect of defeating or 

substantially impairing accomplishment of the objectives of the entity’s program with respect to 

individuals with disabilities ... ”  28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(3). 

68. The Department of Finance and Administration is a public entity under Title II of 

the ADA and its implementing regulations. 

SECTION 504 OF THE REHABILITATION ACT (Section 504) 

69. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 provides, “No otherwise qualified 

individual with a disability in the United States … shall, solely by reason of her or his disability, 

be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination 

under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance.”  29 U.S.C. § 794. 

70. Regulations implementing Section 504 are the same as the ADA regulations, 

including 28 C.F.R. § 41.51(b)(1)(iv) (unnecessarily separate), 28 C.F. R. § 41.51(b)(1) (vii) 

(rights and opportunities),  28 C.F.R. §41.51(b)(3)(methods of administration), and 28 C.F.R. § 

41.51(d) (most integrated setting).    

71. The Department of Finance and Administration is a program that receives Federal 

financial assistance under Section 504 and its implementing regulations.   
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EARLY PERIODIC SCREENING, DIAGNOSIS, AND TREATMENT (EPSDT) 

72. When a particular service or treatment for children in not included in the State’s 

Medicaid plan for adults, the State must nevertheless provide that service or treatment for all 

individuals under age 21 if it is otherwise covered and reimbursed by the federal Medicaid 

program.  See 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(43)(C). 

73. The Medicaid Act requires participating States to provide an EPSDT program 

consisting of the following services: 

(a) informing all persons in the state who are under the age of 21 and who are eligible for 
medical assistance of the availability of early and periodic screening, diagnosis and 
treatment services as described in § 1396d(r); 
(b) providing or arranging for the provision of such screening services in cases where 
they are requested; 
(c) arranging for (directly or through referral to appropriate agencies, organization, or 
individuals) corrective treatment the need for which is disclosed by such child health 
screening services.  42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(43). 
 
74. The purpose of EPSDT services is to ascertain children’s physical and mental 

impairments, and to arrange for or provide such health care, treatment, or other measures to 

correct or ameliorate impairments and chronic conditions discovered through EPSDT screenings.   

75. Under EPSDT states must provide all of the services listed in 42 U.S.C. § 

1396d(a) when needed to correct or ameliorate a developmental, behavioral, emotional, or 

physical condition.  Among the services are:  home health care, private duty nursing, physical, 

occupational and related therapies, personal care, and other diagnostic, preventive and 

rehabilitative services, including any services recommended by a licensed practitioner for the 

maximum reduction of physical or mental disability and restoration of an individual to the best 

possible functional level, 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(a)(7), (8), (11), (13) and (24). 
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76. All Medicaid beneficiaries under age 21, including individuals receive services 

through HCBS waivers, are entitled to EPSDT.  HCFA, Dear State Medicaid Director (Jan. 10, 

2001) (Olmstead Update No. 4).   

77. Defendants do not provide ADL and nursing services to children under 21 living 

with family as Supported Living services or Medical Residential services.  

MEDICAID AND TENNCARE 

78. In 1965, Congress enacted Title XIX of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C.  

§ 1396-1396w-5, establishing Medicaid, a medical assistance program cooperatively funded by 

the federal and state governments.  The purpose of Medicaid is to furnish, as far as practicable, 

“medical assistance on behalf of ... aged, blind or disabled individuals, whose income and 

resources are insufficient to meet the costs of necessary medical services” and “to help such 

families and individuals to attain or retain capability for independence or self-care ...” 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1396 (emphasis added).   

79. The Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) 

administers the Medicaid program at the federal level through the Centers for Medicare & 

Medicaid Services (CMS).  CMS urges states pursuant to the mandate of the ADA to avoid 

unnecessary institutionalization of persons with disabilities. 

80. State participation in Medicaid is voluntary.  Once a state elects to participate, it 

must adhere to the federal legal requirements, as provided by the United States Constitution, the 

Medicaid Act and implementing regulations, the ADA, and Section 504. Tennessee has elected 

to participate in the Medicaid program.  
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81.   Under the Tennessee Medical Assistance Act of 1968, the defendants are 

required to administer the TennCare program in conformity with federal law and the terms of 

any federal waiver granted the state.  See Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 71-5-102, 104. 

82. The federal Medicaid Act authorizes states to obtain Home and Community-based 

Services (HCBS) waivers from CMS to provide alternative services in lieu of institutional care.  

These programs cover a range of home-based services for limited numbers of Medicaid 

recipients.  See 42 U.S.C. § 1396n(c).  It is called a waiver because it allows states to waive the 

otherwise-mandatory Medicaid requirements of state wideness, comparability of benefits 

between enrollees, and certain income requirements.  42 U.S.C. § 1396n(c)(3) 

THE WAIVER PROGRAM FOR PERSONS WITH INTELLECTUAL AND 
DEVELOPMENTAL DISABILITIES (DIDD WAIVER) 

 
83. Medicaid authorizes coverage of home and community-based (HCBS) waiver 

programs to provide services in the community, including personal care assistance for ADLs, 

homemaker/home health aide, adult day health, habilitation, respite, and home modifications.  

Id., § 1396n(c)(4)(B).   

84. In September 2009, Tennessee requested CMS to extend its DIDD Waiver to 

provide services for intellectually and developmentally disabled individuals through December 

31, 2014.  Covered services included Personal Assistance for ADL services, Medical Residential 

services (for ADL and nursing services), Supported Living for ADL services, as well as others.   

85. The provision of these waiver services was intended to enable and encourage 

Tennessee citizens with intellectual and developmental disabilities to remain at home and in the 

community and to fulfill the State’s obligation under federal law to avoid unnecessarily 

segregating such individuals.   
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86. Although CMS approved the State’s extension request on June 28, 2010, the State 

did not expressly eliminate two PA care providers for an eligible individual.  When disability 

advocates protested Defendants’ proposed limitation of PA care to only one assistant at time, the 

proposed limitation was suspended until the State submitted an amendment to the extended 

waiver.   

87. Subsequently, the Defendants submitted an amendment to the DIDD Waiver.  

This request did not seek to limit PA care to only one assistant at a time but instead the 

amendment was to establish limitations on personal assistance, nursing services, adult dental 

services, environmental accessibility modifications, and nutritional services as well as 

eliminating vehicle modification services.  These limitations included limits of 215 per month 

PA services and of 12 hours per day nursing services.   

88. On information and belief, there are approximately 6390 individuals enrolled in 

the DIDD waiver.  Of the individuals enrolled, approximately 330 (about 5%) are in need of and 

use any in-home nursing services, approximately 1250 (about 20%) are in need of and use PA 

services for ADL services, and less than 50 (less than 1%) are in need of and receive PA services 

by more than one PA at a time. It is unknown how many need and use both PA and nursing 

services, how many require more than 12 hours of nursing services per day, or how many require 

more than 215 hours of PA services per day.   

89. Medicaid waiver programs must also be “cost neutral” in the aggregate, meaning 

that the total average cost of providing care for program all waiver participants in the home and 

community-based setting must not exceed the total projected cost of providing care in the 

institutional setting in which all the participants would otherwise reside.  42 U.S.C. § 

1396n(c)(2)(D), 42 C.F.R. § 441.302(e).   
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90. Defendants use an aggregated cost neutrality formula, i.e., total expenditures for 

services per year, rather than an individual total expenditures per year 

91. Defendants estimate the average per participant expenditures, if the waiver had 

not been granted to be $129,957 to $146,268 per year from January 1, 2010 through December 

31, 2014 in institutional settings. 

92. Defendants estimate the average per participant expenditures for services to 

individuals under the MR Waiver Programs to be $83,889 to $92,798 per year from January 1, 

2010 through December 14, 2014 in the community. 

Announced Limitations 

93. Defendants sent notice to all waiver enrollees on March 7, 2011 that “[y]our 

HCBS Waiver benefits are changing.” This notice explained  

“some services have new limits. Services above these limits are not covered 
anymore. This is true even if they have been approved in your ISP [Individual Support 
Plan]. 

 Nursing Services are limited to 48 units (12 hours) per day. 

 Personal Assistance (PA) services [ADL services] are limited to 860 units (215 
hours) per month… 

These changes apply to everyone enrolled in these waivers [Statewide, Arlington, 
and Self-Determination].”  

 
94. Personal Assistance for ADL services in one’s home and Supported Living for 

ADL services in a group home with other disabled persons are two waiver services that are 

available to Plaintiffs, but are mutually exclusive options.  

95. Personal Assistance services are defined as “the provision of direct assistance 

with activities of daily living (e.g., bathing, dressing, personal hygiene, eating, meal preparation 

excluding cost of food), household chores essential to the health and safety of the enrollee, 

budget management, attending appointments, and interpersonal and social skills building to 

enable the Enrollee to live in a home in the community. It also may include medication 
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administration as permitted under Tennessee’s Nurse Practice Act.” TennCare Rule 1200-13-01-

.25(1)(aa) (emphasis added). The cost of this service is $14.76 per hour.  

96. Supported Living service is “a type of residential service having individualized 

services and supports that enable an Enrollee to acquire, retain or improve skills necessary to 

reside in a home that is under the control and responsibility of the Enrollee [owned or rented by 

enrollee, not his/her family]. The service includes direct assistance as needed with activities of 

daily living, household chores essential to the health and safety of the Enrollee, budget 

management, attending appointments, and interpersonal and social skills building to enable the 

Enrollee to live in a home in the community. It also may include medication administration as 

permitted under Tennessee’s Nurse Practice Act.” TennCare Rule 1200-13-01-.25(1)(pp) 

(emphasis added). This service cannot be provided in a home where the enrollee lives with 

family members.  The cost of this service ranges from $80.75 per day to $747.75 per day, 

depending on the enrollee’s level of need.   

97. Similarly, under the DIDD Waiver nursing services by either a licensed practical 

nurse (LPN) or registered nurse (RN) are available in a participant’s home and as part of Medical 

Residential services.   Also, medical residential services include the same ADL services provided 

as Personal Assistance service and Supported Living services.  However, Medical Residential 

services cannot be provided in the homes of the Plaintiffs’ families.       

NAMED PLAINTIFFS’ FACTS 

98. Siblings H. B. and S. B. reside in Murfreesboro, TN with their adoptive mother, a 

disabled 8-year-old adopted brother, and a 17-year-old foster sibling. Additionally, an adult 

adoptive brother, who suffers from schizophrenia, his fiancé, and their two children are also 

currently residing in the home.  

Case 3:11-cv-00663   Document 1    Filed 07/11/11   Page 18 of 82 PageID #: 18



 19 

99. H. B. is thirteen years old. He suffers from autism, mental retardation, Attention 

Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, and a sleep disorder. 

He is verbal. His daily routine is strictly defined in a behavioral program. Achieving his daily 

routine requires constant supervision, one-step prompting (step-by step instructions), and 

positive reinforcement from caregivers. H. B. requires constantly monitoring by someone within 

visual distance at all times to prevent self-injurious and aggressive behaviors. In one incident, 

when his personal assistant (PA) was not present, H. B. hit one of his siblings, breaking the 

orbital bone in her face.  

100. H. B. currently receives PA services for 17 hours every day (during his waking 

hours of seven a.m. through twelve midnight).  He has been receiving this care through the 

DIDD Waiver since approximately 2003. Both his treating psychiatrist, Dr. Kent Kyger, and his 

primary care physician, Dr. David Engler, annually prescribe 24 hour-per-day PA services with 

family support for H. B., despite DIDD not requiring written prescriptions.  

101. S. B. is nine years old. She has autism, mental retardation, ADHD, impulse 

control disorder, a sleep disorder and an eating disorder. Also, she requires medication to treat 

bipolar disorder.  She became verbal in the last year but still uses sign language and screaming to 

communicate. S. B. requires total assistance with all activities of daily living. She must be fed.  

She must be constantly monitored to prevent “eloping” (running off on her own, which she 

attempts many times a day).  A person must always be within an arm’s reach of her to prevent 

elopement and to prevent myriad self-injurious behaviors. She only sleeps between 3-5 hours per 

night. 

102. S. B. currently receives PA services for 19 hours per day. This level of care was 

determined to be medically necessary by an Administrative Law Judge in 2008 under TennCare 
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rules and regulations. Even so, both her treating psychiatrist, Dr. Kent Kyger, and her primary 

care physician, Dr. David Engler, annually prescribe 24 hour-per-day PA services with family 

support for S. B., despite DIDD not requiring written prescriptions.  

103. S. B. and H. B.’s mother has been caring for them since December 2006 and 

adopted them in September 2008. Their mother is also the sole caretaker for their eight-year-old 

adopted brother, C. B.  He is currently on the waiting list for the DIDD Waiver and was qualified 

in the crisis category. He is autistic, mentally retarded, and suffers from Bipolar Disorder, an 

attachment disorder, and an anxiety disorder. Due to past neglect, he only recently learned how 

to walk upright. He requires assistance with all activities of daily living. He also requires 

constant supervision, since he demonstrates numerous behaviors that endanger both himself and 

others.  C. B. has no services through the DIDD Waiver, and requests for PA services and home 

health aide care have been denied.  

104. Defendants have notified H. B. and S. B. that their personal assistance services 

will be limited to 215 hours per month. Their mother has not been advised by DIDD of any other 

available services to fill in the gaps in care.   

105. If the PA support to H. B. and S. B. is cut as proposed by the Defendant, their 

mother foresees with certainty that she will not be able to keep all three children in the home. 

Instead, she will be forced to place them in institutions. 

106. According to their treating psychiatrist, Dr. Kent Kyger, both children will require 

the same level of one-on-one care in any placement. However, he is unaware of available 

placements for children with such significant behavior disorders that can and will be able to 

provide the one-on-one care they require. He hypothesizes that a final result may be placement 

back into the custody of the Department of Children’s Services.  
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107. Plaintiffs Megan Lara and N. L. are siblings. They live with their mother in 

Shelbyville, Tennessee. Their father lives and works in Michigan in order to keep health 

insurance for his family and to provide for them financially.  

108. Plaintiff M. Lara is 19 years old and has autism, epilepsy and mental retardation. 

She is non-verbal. She requires supervision constantly. She does not understand danger and has 

behavior problems including fighting, scratching, and biting. She requires assistance with all 

activities of daily living. She gets up throughout the night and needs constant, awake 

supervision. Additionally, she has epilepsy and when she has 1-2 seizures per week, she has to 

be rolled on her side and given medication.  

109. Plaintiff M. Lara currently receives personal assistance services 24 hours per day, 

seven days per week.  She has been receiving these services since 2005 through the DIDD 

Waiver.  

110. Plaintiff N. L. is 12 years old. He has cerebral palsy and autism. He is verbal and 

has to use a wheelchair and walker due to cerebral palsy. He requires assistance with all 

activities of daily living and constant monitoring because he gets into things that could cause him 

harm. He also does not sleep through the night and requires constant supervision even at night.  

111. Plaintiff N. L. currently receives personal assistance services 24 hours per day, 

seven days per week.  He has been receiving these services since 2005 through the DIDD 

Waiver.  

112. Their 43-year old mother suffered from a stroke in 2009 rendering her paralyzed 

on her left side. She is slowly recovering and still undergoing physical therapy. Their mother 

now can only walk with a walker and cannot lift either child or assist with their activities of daily 

living.  
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113. Defendant has notified them that their hours will be limited to 215 hours per 

month if they remain in their home with their mother. Their mother has not been advised of any 

other available services to fill in the gaps in care through either DIDD or the MCO. No mention 

or suggestion has been made about the provision of personal care services or any other available 

services under EPSDT.  

114. Because both Plaintiff M. Lara and N. L. require more hours than Defendants will 

provide, their mother is faced with an impossible choice. Because there is no possible way that 

her husband can quit his job and move home to care for all three of them, she will be forced to 

place her children in an institution if such placement can be located.  

115. Plaintiff A. M. is a ten year old resident of Memphis, Tennessee who lives with 

his grandmother who is his caretaker, his mother and his great-grandmother. His mother has a 

very low IQ and a seizure disorder and is not able to care for him. He was born prematurely and 

weighed three pounds eight ounces at birth. He has intractable symptomatic partial seizures, 

encephalopathy characterized by severe mental retardation, a missing corpus callosum, 

congenital anomalies that required amputation of both legs at the knees, mixed receptive 

expressive language disorder, asthma, and allergic rhinitis. He uses leg prostheses and a walker 

to ambulate several times during the day. He has the dangerous behaviors of throwing things and 

bumping his head against objects. He requires assistance with all of his activities of daily living. 

He has also had surgery on his right hand for other birth defects. It is not possible to predict 

when seizures will happen with A. M., how long they will last or how severe they will be. He 

cannot be left alone or alone with his mother who may have a seizure at any time.  

116. He receives personal assistance services 12 hours a day, seven days a week. His 

grandmother and his aunt provide personal assistance services and twelve hours per day of 
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uncompensated personal assistance services to A. M. in order to keep him safe. Each left their 

jobs which paid them more so they are in the position of getting paid less and also providing 

uncompensated care. His grandmother serves as one of his personal assistants after quitting her 

previous employment because of difficulty finding personal assistants to care for him.  

117. Defendants have notified Plaintiff that his hours of personal assistance will be 

limited to 215 hours per month if he chooses to remain in his home with his family. If his hours 

are reduced, it is unclear what options will be available to him. His family has not been advised 

by Defendants of any other available services to fill in the gaps in care.   

118. Plaintiff Timothy Bush is 41 years old and lives with his parents in Manchester, 

Tennessee. He is 5 feet, 10 inches tall and weighs 235 pounds.  He has cerebellar ataxia, mild 

mental retardation, Barrett’s esophagus, heart murmur, scoliosis with surgically implanted rods 

to straighten his spine, severe degenerative disc disease and bronchiactisis. He needs assistance 

to dress, get out of bed and into his wheel chair, and to walk for short distances. He requires total 

assistance for preparation of his food, eating, bathing, toileting and transferring from his wheel 

chair to a car or a chair. He also requires assistance with his nebulizer breathing treatments, 

oxygen administration, medication administration, attaching of his Vest Airway Clearance 

System (a high frequency chest wall oscillation device) which assists with mobilizing secretions 

in his lungs and attachment to his BiPAP (bilevel positive airway pressure) machine which 

facilitates breathing/exhaling while he sleeps. 

119. Plaintiff Bush is currently receiving personal assistance from two people 12 hours 

a day, 7 days a week, from 7 a.m. to 7 p.m., and personal assistance from one person 12 hours a 

day, 7 days a week, from 7 p.m. to 7 a.m. (or approximately 1092 hours a month). He has been 

receiving these medically necessary services, through the DIDD Waiver, since approximately 
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September 2009, when he became unable to walk without assistance after surgery to correct his 

scoliosis. For the past two months he has been receiving one hour home visits twice a week from 

a hospice nurse, who checks his vital signs and monitors his medication management in 

consultation with a hospice physician.  

120. His parents provide uncompensated care a total of 17 hours a day. They provide 

12 hours a day, 7 days a week during the 7 p.m. to 7 a.m. shift when there is only one personal 

assistant working, because two people are needed at all times to help with Plaintiff Bush’s care. 

In addition, they provide 5 hours of uncompensated care a day, 7 days a week when they give 

Plaintiff Bush his medical treatments, which the personal assistants are not authorized to provide. 

These include administering his medications in the morning and at night, administering breathing 

treatments using the nebulizer machine 4 times a day, attaching his Vest Airway Clearance 

System twice a day, attaching him to his oxygen machine once a day which stays on until it is 

removed at bed time, attaching his BiPAP machine at bed time, and giving him an enema twice a 

week. Plaintiff Bush’s father is 66, had head/neck fusion surgery last year, has a weight lifting 

restriction of 25 pounds, and is losing the use of his right hand for reasons his doctors have been 

unable to determine. His mother is 62, has had two major back surgeries, has weight lifting 

restrictions of 15 pounds, has two leaky heart valves, has torn both of her rotator cuffs, and has 

rheumatoid arthritis. His parents cannot provide any additional uncompensated care. They have 

no other family members or supports who could provide uncompensated care for Plaintiff Bush. 

His 43 year brother also lives with his parents, has the same impairment as Plaintiff Bush, 

receives approximately 243 hours a month personal assistance, and has been told he will be cut 

to 215 hours a month. 
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121. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Bush that his personal assistance hours will be 

limited to 215 hours a month if he chooses to remain in his parents’ home. Because he requires 

more hours than the defendants will provide, he will have to move out of his parents’ home and 

into a supported living placement to receive the exact same services he receives now. However, 

in supported living, the state will have to provide 2-on-one care for 24 hours per day to replace 

the 17 hours of daily uncompensated care that his parents currently provide, including all other 

informal supports they provide.  Because Plaintiff Bush needs two-on-one care 24 hours per day, 

the cost of a safe and appropriate supported living placement will exceed what the state is 

currently paying for the personal assistance services he receives in his parents’ home. 

122. Plaintiff Amanda D. Casey is 31 years old and lives with her mother and 

stepfather in Telford, Tennessee. She has had a seizure disorder since she was an infant. She is 

diagnosed with Lennox-Gestaut disorder and microcephaly. She also has cortical blindness. She 

has the mind of a six month old.  She has multiple seizures a day, every day.  She endures 200 or 

more seizures every month, the average duration of which is an hour. Plaintiff Casey started 

seizing at 4 months old and, and her EKG shows that she is almost always having some kind of 

seizure activity, even if not visible. She can never be left alone. No medicine can control her 

types of seizures, but she is still on many different seizure medications because of concerns that, 

without them, her seizures will worsen.  Plaintiff Casey’s seizures are accompanied by prolonged 

motoric hyperactivity, including extreme rocking (until red abrasions appear on her buttocks) 

and bouncing on her hands and knees across the room, sometimes coming completely off the 

floor. During these activities, she is not aware of her surroundings and the staff must protect her 

by forming a barrier between her and her environment.  She cannot be left alone while in durable 

medical equipment due to rocking back and forth until it tips over, such as in her wheel chair, EZ 
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stand, walker, etc.  Staff must be at her side at all times.  She needs to remain in a safe, padded, 

familiar setting where it is quiet and consistent to ensure her safety and well being.  She has to 

have 24 hour care to feed her, change her, brush her teeth, prepare food, assist her in walking one 

hour a day. She also requires range of motion therapy three times per day.  She needs help with 

all activities of daily living.  Plaintiff Casey rarely sleeps for any period of time for at least one-

third of every month.  While seizing, she will not drink unless forced to do so and is easily 

dehydrated. 

123. Plaintiff Casey currently receives twenty-seven hours a week of care from a 

licensed practical nurse (LPN) paid for by TennCare, as well as one Personal Assistant, or PA, 

during the times the LPN is present.  When the LPN is not there, Plaintiff Casey has two PA’s 

present at all times from 9 AM to 9PM. She has one PA preset from 11PM until 9AM. She has 

been receiving this medically necessary care through the DIDD Waiver since May 2009. Prior to 

that, she had in-home nursing care for 12 hours per day and a PA for 12 hours per day.  Because 

Plaintiff Casey was injuring herself and her mother, who was working as her PA 12 hours a day 

at that time, she began getting double staffing of her PA hours in 2009. 

124. Plaintiff Casey’s mother provides compensated care, along with another PA, for 

her daughter from 4 PM until 11 PM, 7 hours per day, seven days per week, in addition to caring 

for her own elderly parents who live next door and homemaking to provide for her family’s 

needs. She also provides uncompensated care for her the rest of the time. There are no other 

family members or supports who could provide uncompensated care for Plaintiff Casey. Her 

biological father has surrendered his rights and has not seen his daughter since she was 6 years 

old.  Plaintiff Casey’s step father works full time and over time outside the home to financially 

provide for their needs.  He works night shift and sleeps during the day.  
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125. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Casey’s that she will only have one PA at a 

time, leaving her single-staffed at times when the LPN is not present.  Defendants have also 

notified Plaintiff that her hours of personal assistance will be limited to 50 hours a week, or 215 

hours a month, if she chooses to remain in her home with her mother. Because Amanda requires 

more hours than Defendant will provide, she will have to move out of her home. 

126. If her hours are reduced, she will not be able to stay in her home with her mother, 

and will have to move into a supported living placement to receive the exact same services she 

receives now.  In addition, the State will need to replace the uncompensated care her mother 

currently provides for her.  Because Plaintiff Casey needs one-on-one care 24 hours per day, the 

cost of a safe and appropriate supported living placement will exceed what the state is currently 

paying for her personal assistance services. 

127. Plaintiff Stephanie Domm is 20 years old and lives with her parents and her 

younger sister in Germantown, Tennessee. She is diagnosed with mental retardation, cerebral 

palsy, scoliosis, and seizure disorders. She weighs approximately eighty-five pounds. She 

requires total assistance with all activities of daily living.  She is only able to spend 2 to 2 ½ 

hours at a time in her wheelchair and then must be out of the wheelchair for twenty to thirty 

minutes. If not repositioned appropriately or transferred out of her wheelchair, she experiences 

extreme pain. She requires frequent repositioning and transferring to and from her wheelchair 

throughout the day, approximately 14 to 16 times per day.  Because of her scoliosis and fragility, 

repositions, lifts, and transfers require two trained personal assistants.  She is incontinent, wears 

a diaper 24 hours per day and must be completely assisted all personal hygiene activities and 

checked every two hours. 
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128. Plaintiff Domm receives 2 PA services approximately fifty hours per week during 

the school year and sixty-five hours per week when school is out. Her parents have responsibility 

for her the majority of the time and provide in excess of one hundred hours per week of 

uncompensated care for her.  She attends school at Collierville High School in the Shelby 

County School system.  Her program there includes speech, occupational and physical therapy 

services at school also.  

129. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Domm that her PA hours will be limited to 215 

per month if she remains in her home with her family. Her home has been modified in order to 

accommodate her so she can remain there safely. However, because she requires more hours than 

Defendants will allow, she will have to move out of her home.  

130. If Plaintiff Domm is placed in a supported living placement, the state will have to 

provide care 24 hours per day to replace the PA care and the uncompensated nursing care and 

that her parents currently provide.  Because she needs one-on-one care 24 hours per day, as well 

as two-on-one care for all transfers, the cost of a safe and appropriate placement will exceed 

what the state is currently paying for her PA services. 

131. Plaintiff Dustin (Dusty) Scott Hollis is twenty-five years old and lives alone with 

his mother in Cunningham, Tennessee. He suffers from Trisomy 15, a condition of mental 

retardation with profound autistic characteristics, hyperactivity, vision impairment, and severe 

seizures. He is non-verbal and unable to communicate his needs. He has between 250 and 300 

seizures per month.  He is incontinent and requires constant one-on-one care. As a result of the 

severe seizure disorder, he has developed Todd’s Paralysis, which is persistent paralysis to part 

or all of the body lasting for several days, even a month, at a time.  He must be held onto 

constantly when walking because of his persistent seizures.  He requires assistance with all 
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activities of daily living, including dressing, bathing and eating. He cannot be left alone at any 

time. He enjoys outside activities, but he has no fear, and so he must have constant and persistent 

supervision to protect him from risky behavior as well as self-injurious behavior and possibly 

life-endangering consequences of his seizures. His sleep patterns are very erratic.  

132. Plaintiff Hollis currently receives personal assistance 12 hours per day, seven 

days per week with two PAs from 8 am until 8 pm. He receives personal assistance services 12 

hours per day, seven days per week with one PA from 8 pm until 8 am. He has been receiving 

these medically necessary services since approximately 2002-03 through the DIDD Waiver. Due 

to the unpredictability and severity of his seizures, he needs two personal assistants at all times. 

At least one of the assistants must be tethered to him by a strap attached to his waist to prevent 

him from falling and injuring himself when he has a seizure. 

133. His mother provides uncompensated care for approximately 12 hours per day. 

Due to his erratic sleep schedule, his mother only gets and average of 5 to 6 hours of sleep per 

night. His father previously provided additional care, but he passed away in 2010.   They have no 

other family members or supports who could provide uncompensated care for him.  

134. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Hollis that he will only be allowed one PA and 

his hours of personal assistance will be limited to 215 per month if he chooses to remain in his 

home with his mother. Because he requires more hours than Defendants will provide, he will 

have to move out of his home away from his mother.   

135. If his hours are reduced, he will not be able to stay in his home with his mother, 

and will have to move into a supported living placement to receive the exact same services he 

receives now. However, in supported living, the state will have to provide two-on-one care 24 

hours per day to keep him safe as well as replace all other informal supports provided by his 
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mother.  Because Plaintiff Hollis needs two-on-one care 24 hours per day, the cost of a safe and 

appropriate supported living placement will exceed what the state is currently paying for his 

personal assistance services. 

136. Plaintiff Chris Hughes is a 35-year-old male with a diagnosis of athetoid cerebral 

palsy, mental retardation, esophogitis, myopia, extropia, and dysphagis with peg tube, history of 

gastrointestinal reflux disease (GERD) and history of seizures.  He lives in Duff, Campbell 

County, Tennessee -- a remote area of the Appalachian Mountain coal region in East Tennessee.  

He lives with his mother and adoptive father.  Plaintiff Hughes has lived with his step-father 

Eddie Hughes since he was two years old.  When Plaintiff Hughes was 10 years old, Eddie 

Hughes adopted him.  Plaintiff Hughes has severe spasticity throughout his body.  He is unable 

to sit upright without multiple points of external support.  Volitional movement triggers 

associated movement of his entire body.  Also, his emotional state triggers associated movement 

as well.  The force of these involuntary movements is extreme and they can often cause body 

rigidity.  In the past, this severe spasticity has bent metal reinforcement bars on his wheelchair.  

He is unable to weight bare to perform a stand-pivot transfer and usually requires two persons for 

all transfers, lifts, or repositioning.  On occasion, depending on the height and surface, he 

requires a three person lift.  Due to the size of his room and configurations, mechanical lifts are 

not successful and his parents’ home does not lend himself to modification for a ceiling track lift.  

He is wheelchair dependent, but is able to operate a power wheelchair with a head control 

switch.  However, he still requires assistance while in his power chair.  He receives nutrition by 

tube feedings. He is able to operate a modified switch on his hospital bed to initiate the 

movement of head/foot positions of his bed.  He does not sleep throughout the night and must 

rely on others to be moved up in bed, to change his body position, to prevent pressure sores and 
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to adjust the covers during the night.  He is non-verbal and uses a speech generating device (a 

computer with a communication program) that can be activated by a head-controlled switch.  In 

his home, he lies on the floor to activate the switch with his head.  When his speech generated 

device isn’t available, he communicates by yes/no responses with accuracy and eye gaze to 

trigger the family to ask a line of questions.   

137. Currently, Plaintiff Hughes receives services from two PAs for 16 hours a day, 

five days a week (total of 32 PA service hours per day, five days a week).  On weekends, he 

receives PA services for 16 hours a day by one attendant.  He has had two PAs since 2000 due to 

his growth and the difficulty of providing assistance for all activities of daily living secondary to 

the strength of his athetoid movements.  When Plaintiff Hughes first began receiving services 

from two PAs, it was very difficult to find or retain PAs.  The strength of his athetoid movements 

would frequently frighten the PA or cause injuries to himself or the PAs.  PAs would constantly 

summon his mother from her business in Jacksboro, Tennessee, when he was ill and would 

aspirate.  (PAs are not permitted to aspirate a patient.)  Also, because of his lack of ability to 

communicate clearly, he would become frustrated and the athetoid movements would become 

more frequent and forceful.  Nursing services were also required since Plaintiff Hughes required 

feeding through a G-tube. 

138. Finally, in 2008, his mother gave her up her business in Jacksboro and was 

allowed to become a paid attendant for him for eight hours a day, five days a week.  His adoptive 

father was also allowed to be a paid attendant for eight hours a day, five days a week.  However, 

the toll of caring for Plaintiff Hughes since birth has taken a toll on his parents’ physical health.  

His mother suffers from fibromyalgia.  His father still works full time and commutes to his job in 

Knoxville, Tennessee, a drive of approximately 90 minutes each way.  However, his father has 
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developed chronic back pain.  They can no longer provide the assistance that Plaintiff Hughes 

needs without help.  Therefore, he needs an outside PA 16 hours per day, seven days a week.     

Either his mother or father is available at all times to help with communication or aspirations, if 

needed, as well as for lifting, repositioning, bathing, and other informal support such as cleaning, 

washing clothes and linens, etc.  PAs are no longer constantly being injured or frightened by his 

movements, communication difficulties or occasional aspirations.  From midnight to eight in the 

morning five days a week, his mother and stepfather provide natural support.  His mother and 

father provide natural support for him in addition to one PA for 16 hours on Saturday and 

Sunday.  Nursing services are no longer needed since his mother and father can suction him as 

needed and provide feeding through the G-tube. 

139. In November 2010, the predecessor to DIDD (Division of Intellectual Disability 

Services) conducted a comprehensive assessment of Plaintiff Hughes’ need for at least two PAs.  

The assessment was conducted by a physical therapist and occupational therapist.  The therapists 

concluded that at least two persons are required to assist him and maintain his safety in his home 

and in the community.  His primary care physician believes that he requires at least two and 

frequently three people for transfers, lifting, and positioning.  His primary care physician 

believes that continued care by his parents is vital to his ongoing health and vitality.  

140. Plaintiff Hughes’ immune system is compromised by his impairments.  He is at 

high risk for aspiration if he does become infected with a full cold or flu virus. Family members 

and caregivers must use universal precautions to prevent infections or the spread of infections to 

him.  Constant exposure to other patients or group settings is not recommended.  Therefore, his 

doctor believes that continued care in his home is not only prudent, but absolutely necessary. 
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141. Plaintiff Hughes requires more PA service hours than Defendant will provide.  He 

cannot be kept safe without the assistance of two or more PAs.  His parents currently provide at 

least 62 hours of natural support for him.  His mother has had to give up her salon business to 

provide additional assistance, including suctioning when he aspirated.  Currently, he does not 

need to have nursing services in his home since suctioning can be performed by his mother.  

Even with other services like community-based day services and TennCare-covered home health 

aid services in addition to the reduced PA services, he would not be able to remain in the home 

with his family. According to his current provider of PA services, there are no supported living 

placements available in Campbell County for a person with his impairments and needs.   

142. On June 23, 2011, DIDD notified Plaintiff Hughes that DIDD “can only keep 

paying for the care in your current ISP (Individual Support Plan) until 7/22/11.  This includes  

 One unit/month Individual Support Coordination (ISC) services 

 195 hours/month of Personal Assistance (PA) services 

 317  hours/month of Personal Assistance (PA) 2 staff (PA-2) services” 
 
 
143. Plaintiff Hughes appealed from the June 23, 2011 notice and requested 

continuation of services pending a hearing.  On June 29, 2011, DID notified him that services 

would not be continued during his appeal.  On June 30, 2011, the TennCare Bureau notified him 

that his appeal was dismissed because he did “not have a signed ISP in place.” DIDD did not 

“sign” the ISP because it did not show how Mr. Hughes can be supposed based on “services 

available.”  Mr. Hughes’ ISA was informed that the June 23, 2011 notice constituted a notice of 

disenrollment.  Therefore, if Mr. Hughes does submit an ISP with Supported Living services 

outside his family’s home by July 22, 2011, he will be disenrolled from the DIDD Waiver.  
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144. If Plaintiff Hughes is forced to go without the assistance of two PAs or to reduce 

PA services to 50 hours per week, his health and safety will be jeopardized and he would no 

longer enjoy the companionship and support of his family, friends and community. 

145. Plaintiff Scott Rappe is a 27 year-old young man who lives with his mother and 

his ninety-two year old grandfather who has Alzheimer’s and is dependent on Plaintiff Rappe’s 

mother for care. His mother is a special education teacher’s assistant with Williamson County 

Schools.  Plaintiff Rappe is 6 ft. 1 inch tall and weighs 254 pounds. He is diagnosed with severe 

mental retardation, cerebral palsy, epilepsy, severe osteoporosis, hypertension, hypothyroidism, 

hyponatremia and autism. He is ambulatory, however, he also has muscle weakness and 

uncontrolled seizures. Plaintiff Rappe has at least one grand mal seizure per week, sometimes 

more. For grand mal seizures, he requires the administration of Diastat rectal gel in  a prefilled 

syringe immediately at the onset.   He also has a high pain threshold and is unlikely to tell 

anyone if he is hurt until the pain is very serious. In the last five years he has been hospitalized 

several times for fractures and tears requiring surgery. Plaintiff Rappe has had both knees 

reconstructed, two fractures to his left to his left tibia requiring surgery, fractures to both fibulas, 

multiple metatarsal fractures involving both feet, a right clavicle fracture, a severe tear to his 

right quadriceps and three surgeries to repair rectal prolapsed.  His seizures caused a fracture of 

his right ankle in January 2009 and left ankle in September 2009. The September 2009 fracture 

occurred while he had two personal attendants and a physical therapist with him. Plaintiff Rappe 

also has a history of patellar dislocation. He uses a wheelchair when excessive walking is 

required. He requires frequent assistance positioning and bed mobility.  He engages in self 

injurious behavior in the form of scratching his face. He must have awake staff at night to 

monitor his waking up, his attempts to walk, positioning, and profound sweating from 
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hyponatremia which requires repositioning and fans. He cannot be left alone, he has no 

understanding of danger, and he cannot call for help.  

146. Plaintiff Rappe has two PA services for sixteen hours per day and one PA for 

eight hours at night. According to his orthopedic  surgeon, it is imperative that he be attended by 

two caregivers during his waking hours. He requires an attendant on each side of him to ease him 

down if he has a seizure and/or falls. One person cannot protect him from injury. His internist 

has opined that Plaintiff Rappe has sustained fractures and injuries in the presence of caregivers 

and he has  a marked fall risk and must have two caregivers at all times during the day.  His 

mother provides approximately eight hours of uncompensated care per day and is also on call 

from other care providers for any emergency 24 hours per day, as well as providing other 

services including meal preparation, helping other staff with toileting, repositioning, walking, 

bathing, doctor’s appointments and meetings and staff supervision. Staff specific to Plaintiff 

Rappe must be trained or instructed to look for facial expressions or movement that indicate 

when he is in trouble. 

147. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Rappe that his hours of personal assistance will 

be limited to 215 hours per month if he chooses to remain in his home with his mother and he 

will no longer have more than one PA at a time. Because he requires more hours than Defendant 

will provide as well as more than one PA at a time, he will have to move out of his home. 

148. If his services are reduced, he will have to move into a supported living placement 

to receive the exact same services he receives now. However, in supported living, the state will 

have to provide two-on-one care 24 hours per day and replace the 8 hours of daily 

uncompensated care that his mother currently provides, including all other informal supports 

provided by his mother.  Because he needs two-on-one care 24 hours per day, the cost of a safe 
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and appropriate supported living placement will exceed what the state is currently paying for his 

personal assistance services. 

149. Plaintiff Dustin Woods is a 23-year-old Medicaid recipient who lives in 

Maynardville, Union County, Tennessee, with his adoptive mother Mary Mincey, and her 

husband.  He was born prematurely resulting in Cerebral Palsy.  He is considered a spastic 

quadriplegic. He has the following additional chronic medical conditions:  Seizure Disorder, 

Hydrocephaly, severe Gastritis, and mild Mental Retardation.  He is legally blind in one eye and 

has a severe kidney disorder.  He has suffered two strokes which has further complicated 

communication. Hydrocephalus has resulted in 43 brain surgeries to install and revise a multi-

complex, programmable, experimental, magnetic, ventricular arterial shunt with a siphoning 

valve.  Due to his compromised immune system, he requires breathing treatments and constant 

movement.  Due to his severe Gastritis, he must be elevated at least 30 degrees at all times as a 

choking precaution to prevent aspiration.  Therefore, he requires constant repositioning.  Because 

of his complex shunt, he requires constant monitoring of neurological status, heart rate and 

oxygen saturation. He requires assistance with all activities of daily living.  He receives his 

nutrition and medications through a G-Tube.  This requires feeding and administration of 

medications throughout the day and night.  Also, during the night, he requires assistance toileting 

and repositioning.   

150. Plaintiff Woods receives nursing services 168 hours per week, 52 weeks per year 

(24/7 nursing care).  He also receives PA services 16 hours per day, seven days a week (16/7 

PA).  He has received at least this amount of services since 2007 through the DIDD Waiver. He 

requires two individuals to transfer him to and from the bed, wheelchair, bath, and other 

therapeutic equipment as well as repositioning.   
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151. Plaintiff Woods has his own living quarters attached to the home of Mrs. Mincey 

and her husband.  He has a bedroom, bathroom and kitchen-dining area.  There is a ceiling track 

for a lift from his bedroom to the bathroom.  He pays a pro-rata share of the utilities for himself, 

his mother and step-father.   His living quarters also contain medical equipment for daily 

therapy, including a stander and a motorized exerciser called a “Quadriciser.” 

152. Mrs. Mincey is his most constant companion and his greatest advocate.  However, 

over the years since his birth, Mary Mincey’s’ health has declined and she can no longer assist 

him with his mobility.  There were instances in the past when his mother had to let him fall 

because she could not get him in his wheelchair.  She has back, neck and arm pain on a daily 

basis and is very limited to what she can do for him physically.  Recently, Ms. Mincey 

underwent a partial knee replacement.  This procedure led to blood clots in her legs and lungs.    

153. Although physically unable to care for him, Ms. Mincey provides knowledge and 

other support to his caregivers, especially caregivers who are not familiar with his individual 

impairments.  On occasion, Ms. Mincey may be called upon to provide non-physical care when a 

caregiver is not able to take a shift.  Mrs. Mincey’s husband works full-time for the Union 

County School System as its federal grants administrator that requires him.  Ms. Mincey and her 

husband provide what help they can when there is no PA to assist the nurse during the nighttime. 

154. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Woods that his PA services will be limited to 

50 hours per week and his nursing services will be limited to 12 hours per day.  Since he requires 

more hours of services for PA and nursing, he will have to move out of his home and 

community. 

155. The reduction of personal assistant services to 50 hours per week and nursing 

services to 12 hours per day would cause an immediate risk to his health and life.  He is not a 
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candidate for nursing home admission since no facility could meet his medical needs for constant 

one-on-one nursing services. 

156. Plaintiff Woods’ ISC has suggested a residential medical support placement.  

However, there are no such facilities in Union County or Maynardville.  Since he depends on his 

mother for all non-physical services, including transportation, he would have to leave his 

apartment adjacent to his mother’s home and his community in Maynardville. 

157. Persons with the impairments like Plaintiff Woods rarely live beyond their early 

teens.  Dr. Rodgers  attributes Dustin’s longevity to the care that his family has been able to 

provide at home with the PA and nursing assistance he has and continues to receive.  This care 

along with the family and community contacts has provided a support system that accounts for 

his survival and quality of life.  If he was removed from his home and community, Dr. Rodgers 

believes that he still need the one-on-one observation needed to catch problems early enough to 

prevent serious medical complications and possibly death.  Also, at least two or three people will 

still be required to transfer him, lift him, reposition him, bath him, etc., even in another 

residential setting.  From a medical history perspective, Dr. Rodgers believes that his current PA 

and nursing services and home environment are medically necessary for Plaintiff Woods’ health 

and safety.  

158. Plaintiff Shannon Patrick Dowdy is a 32 year old Medicaid recipient. He is 

mentally retarded and has a seizure disorder. He has progressive demyelinating central nervous 

process of uncertain etiology, which destroys the sheath around the nerves.  This disorder causes 

interruption of nerve impulses between the brain, the spinal cord and the rest of the body, 

resulting in quadriplegia. He suffers from sleep apnea and is unable to cough or expectorate 

saliva adequately.  Therefore, he is at high risk of aspiration and requires frequent suctioning.  
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He receives feedings and medications through a G-tube. Originally his life expectancy was about 

18 years and it is only because of his home care that he has surpassed that estimate. He requires 

oxygen via mask and oximetry with multiple changes in his 02 requirements due to his 

impending respiratory failure and his inability to cough effectively, frequent suctioning to clear 

his airway often up to 25 times per hour, nebulized albuteral for reactive airway disease, use of a 

percussion vest after nebulizer treatments, again to mobilize secretions. He also requires a bipap 

machine at night due to sleep apnea. Due to his aspiration risk, all medications and fluids are 

given via G-tube. He requires turning every 1-1½ hours and use of a special mattress and hoist.  

He is incontinent of urine and stool.  

159. Plaintiff Dowdy receives nursing services 24 hours per day in his home. He lives 

at home with his mother who is a school system employee. She also provides care for him but 

has difficulty lifting any amount of weight. She provides an average of four to five hours of 

uncompensated care for him each day in the form of travel, checking medication administration 

records, supervision and instructions for staff, observation of his status, shopping for supplies 

and attending meetings.  The family also provides an accessible van for him to travel in. 

160. Defendants have notified Plaintiff that nursing services will be limited to twelve 

hours per day. Because he requires more nursing hours than Defendant will provide, he will have 

to move out of his home.  

161. If his nursing services are reduced to no more than 12 hours per day, he will have 

to leave his mother and home to go into a medical residential facility either alone or with another 

person with similar medical needs. His nursing needs will remain unchanged and require one-on-

one care by licensed care givers in a medical residential facility.  He cannot receive appropriate 

Case 3:11-cv-00663   Document 1    Filed 07/11/11   Page 39 of 82 PageID #: 39



 40 

and safe care outside of his home in a medical residential supported living home because of lack 

of continuity of care and his profoundly fragile status.  

162. Plaintiff Hunter R. Manning is a 24 year old man who lives in Calhoun, 

Tennessee with his mother and step father. Hunter is diagnosed with Mucopolysaccharidosis 

(Sanfilippo Syndrome A) which causes developmental delay, severe hyperactivity, spasticity, 

and motor dysfunction.  His other diagnoses include severe mental retardation, seizure disorder, 

failure to thrive, generalized weakness, blindness, chronic agitation due to gas pain, constipation, 

colonic inertia & CNS issues, incontinent bladder, insomnia, and GERD.  His condition is 

currently classified as palliative and he is monitored by a hospice doctor.  He receives a 

continuous feed through his g-tube 24/7. He also requires frequent medication administration, 

ostomy care, g-tube care, repositioning, and frequent PRN medications which require nursing 

judgment for his seizures, pain, and agitation. 

163. Plaintiff Manning is currently approved for LPN services to cover 14 hours per 

day through the DIDD Waiver.  He began receiving LPN services through the waiver in 

December 2009. However, he only recently began receiving the 14 hours/day on a regular basis 

due to the lack of providers being able to staff the required hours.  He also receives 30 hours per 

week of LPN services through TennCare in addition to the 14 hours per day he receives through 

the DIDD Waiver.  However, this still does not provide him with the 24/7 care that he requires. 

Therefore, a request was submitted for the additional units needed to total 24/7 care. This was 

denied.  

164. Plaintiff Manning’s family currently provides for uncompensated care 

approximately 40 hrs per week. This has created mental, physical, and financial stress on the 

family.  Due to his intense needs, the family is struggling to continue to provide the amount of 
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care they currently provide and would not be able to safely support him if forced to provide more 

of his care with the loss of more LPN services. He must have one-on-one constant and intense 

supervision. Without this, he is at serious risk of harm or even death.    

165. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Manning that his hours of nursing will be 

limited to 12 hours per day if he chooses to remain in his home with his family. Because he 

requires more hours than Defendant will provide and his family is already stretched to their 

limits, he will have to move out of his home. 

166. However, he would require placement in a medical residential home which would 

not appropriately serve him for many reasons. Hunter’s immune system is extremely fragile.  His 

family closely monitors who he is exposed to in order to prevent compromising his health.  

Hunter would not be able to live in a home with other service recipients for this reason.  The 

amount of exposure he would face would quickly result in rapid health deterioration.  Therefore, 

Hunter would have to be in an individual placement home at greater cost that his current level of 

care.  He would need one-on-one staffing at all times and a skilled nurse available 24/7.  Due to 

the nature of his needs, he often requires immediate action from a skilled nurse.  In a home 

where the nurse is shared with other residents, this is not guaranteed and would place Hunter at 

risk of harm or death. His primary care physician has agreed that Hunter requires 24/7 skilled 

nursing  care due to the progressive deterioration in his health which requires increased nursing 

needs.   

167. Plaintiff Misty Dawn Ballew is a forty-eight year old woman who resides with her 

mother in south Knoxville.  She is diagnosed with mental retardation, seizure disorder, 

hypoglycemia, legal blindness, a history of aspiration pneumonia, hypothyroid, ataxia, brain 

damage at birth, constipation, nystagmus, optic atrophy, and she is a breast cancer survivor. 
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Plaintiff Ballew requires assistance in all areas of her life including transportation, bathing, 

mobility, meals, and communication. She requires constant monitoring at night due to her risk of 

getting her limbs caught in the bed rails. Because of her significant history of aspiration, her 

lower right lung lobe is compromised.  Therefore, she must follow a strict plan for meals.  

168. Plaintiff Ballew receives PA services 24 hours per day, seven days per week. Her 

mother is involved in the daily oversight of her care and assists in meals, breathing treatments, 

medication administration, and attending to her at night although she is no longer able to provide 

direct physical care such as bathing, toileting, lifting, and transfers. Her mother provides on 

average at least five hours of uncompensated care per day including supervising personal 

assistants, driving to appointments and into the community, cooking meals, assisting with her 

cleaning and bathing, administering medication and attending meetings regarding her care. She 

cannot provide more uncompensated care because of her own health problems. Her father passed 

away in 2010. Her parents purchased a wheelchair accessible van for her to use and also a Go-

Talker that her speech therapist has programmed for her to communicate well known likes and 

desires. Her parents have made numerous home modifications to ensure that she has a fully 

physically accessible home.   

169. Defendant has notified Plaintiff Ballew that she will be limited to 215 hours of PA 

services per month. Because she requires more hours than the defendants will provide, she will 

have to move out of her mother’s home and into a supported living placement to receive the 

exact same services she receives now. However, she cannot receive appropriate care in supported 

living or medical residential services because of her need for continuity of care, difficulty of 

agencies getting staff, and her attachment to her mother, especially since the death of her father. 

Because Plantiff Ballew needs one-on-one care 24 hours per day  in addition to nursing services 
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currently provided by her mother, the cost of a safe and appropriate supported living placement 

will exceed what the state is currently paying for the personal assistance services she receives in 

her mother’s home. 

170. Plaintiff Latandra Bishop is a thirty-seven year old resident of Memphis, 

Tennessee who lives with her aunt. She lived with her grandmother also until her grandmother’s 

recent death. She is diagnosed with mental retardation, blindness, deafness, enuresis, 

hypertension, and mini-strokes.   She does not use her voice to speak but instead uses gestures. 

She is occasionally able to understand some sign language when used as hand over hand.   She 

requires assistance with ambulation and transfers.  She requires assistance with all activities of 

daily living.   She has a history of aggressive, self-injurious behavior such as hitting herself on 

the head and hitting others.   

171. Plaintiff Bishop currently receives PA services for twelve hours a day, seven days 

a week, in the home with her aunt.  She also receives community based day services that allow 

her to leave the home and enter into the community.  Due to her behavior and needs, it is 

difficult to find and keep providers of PA services.  Therefore, her aunt stays at home with her 

and does work outside the home.  The aunt is compensated as one of her PAs. When there are no 

PA services, Plaintiff Bishop’s aunt provides support services without compensation.   

172. Without the provision of PA services by a family member who would otherwise 

have to work outside the home, Plaintiff Bishop would have to be moved from her aunt’s home 

and provided supported living, probably as an individual due to her aggressive behavior and the 

difficulty finding and retaining personal assistance providers for her. There are no other family 

members able to care for her although they do occasionally visit her. 
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173. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Bishop that PA services will be limited to 215 

hours per month. Because Plaintiff requires more hours than Defendant will provide, she will 

have to move out of her home. Due to her level of need, the cost of a safe and appropriate 

alternative placement will exceed what the state is currently paying for the personal assistance 

services she receives in her home. 

174. Plaintiff Michelle Bosworth lives with her mother in Chattanooga, Tennessee. 

She is diagnosed with mental retardation, seizure disorder, allergies, GERD, severe osteoporosis, 

cerebral palsy, scoliosis, internal hemorrhoids, anemia, TMJ, as well as a heart murmur. She uses 

oxygen continuously throughout the day.  She is susceptible to illnesses, and she takes a long 

time to recover, which impacts her ability to participate in activities, and to leave her bed.  She is 

at risk for skin breakdown due to immobility. A couple years ago, Michelle fractured her 6th 

vertebrae from throwing herself back in her wheelchair and has hiatal hernia complications. She 

naps throughout the day, and she only sleeps for a few hours at night, often waking up as early as 

3:30 AM. During the majority of the day, she uses a hospital bed, and she has very limited ability 

to reposition herself by rolling from side to side. She also has a molded wheelchair; however, 

suitable chair padding has not been found that she will tolerate; therefore, she only sits in her 

wheelchair for limited periods of time. Plaintiff Bosworth requires assistance with all personal 

hygiene activities and bathing. She requires full assistance with dressing as well as assistance 

with changing her adult briefs. She requires assistance with transfers, and she is able to weight-

bear by doing stand-pivot transfers. Michelle requires a quiet, semi dark setting because even 

minor changes in routine and activity trigger seizures. Michelle is able to reposition herself, but 

due to the severe osteoporosis staff has to be present to ensure that she does not twist or move in 

a manner that will cause injury.  
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175. Plaintiff Bosworth receives 24 hours per day of personal assistant services and has 

been receiving this level of care through the DIDD Waiver since at least 2010. Her mother is 

unable to fully care for her since she is confined to a wheelchair and she has life-threatening 

medical conditions. Despite her own medical conditions, Mrs. Bosworth is able to prepare meals 

for her daughter as well as provide company and emotional support. Her mother provides 

approximately four hours per day of uncompensated support. Because her mother, also in a 

wheel chair, is her conservator, Mrs. Bosworth must accompany her to medical visits.  

176. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Bosworth that PA services will be limited to 

215 hours per month. Because Plaintiff requires more hours than Defendant will provide, she 

will have to move out of her home. Due to her level of need, the cost of a safe and appropriate 

alternative placement will exceed what the state is currently paying for the personal assistance 

services she receives in her mother’s home. 

177. Plaintiff Jameson Carver is 24 years old and lives with his mother in Nashville, 

Tennessee. He is a blind man with autism, cerebral palsy, and scoliosis. He is non-verbal and 

incontinent. He requires constant one-on-one care. He has scoliosis and cannot stand upright. He 

can stand half-way. He must be held onto when walking. Plaintiff Carver requires assistance with 

all activities of daily living, including dressing, bathing and eating. He cannot be left alone at any 

time. He enjoys going outside or to the store. He used to sleep through the night, but recently has 

been awaking at around midnight. His sleep patterns are erratic. His mother is now getting 4-5 ½ 

hours of sleep per night on the average.  Approximately three years ago, his former doctor said 

he had 3-6 months to live. He received hospice care for one year. Plaintiff Carver recovered, but 

there is no estimation of his life expectancy.  
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178. He previously received personal assistance 12 hours per day, seven days per week 

(or approximately 360 hours per month) to meet his needs. However, these services have 

recently been reduced to 12 hours per day Monday through Friday, 8 hours on Saturday, and 5 

hours on Sunday (or approximately 314 hours per month). He has been receiving these medically 

necessary services since approximately 2001 through the DIDD Waiver. 

179. His mother provides uncompensated care 12 hours per day, five days per week, 

16 hours on Saturday, and 19 hours on Sunday in addition to working outside the home to 

financially provide for their needs. They have no other family members or supports who could 

provide uncompensated care for Plaintiff Carver. His father sees him for about 2 hours every 6 to 

8 weeks. 

180. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Carver that his hours of personal assistance will 

be limited to 215 hours per month if he chooses to remain in his home with his mother. Because 

he requires more hours than Defendant will provide, he will have to move out of his home. 

181. If his hours are reduced, he will not be able to stay in his home with his mother, 

and will have to move into a supported living placement to receive the exact same services he 

receives now. However, in supported living, the state will have to provide care 24 hours per day 

to replace the 12 to 19 hours of daily uncompensated care that his mother currently provides, 

including all other informal supports provided by his mother.  Because Plaintiff Carver needs 

one-on-one care 24 hours per day, the cost of a safe and appropriate supported living placement 

will exceed what the state is currently paying for his personal assistance services. 

182. Plaintiff Amanda Cates is 28 years old. She is diagnosed with severe mental 

retardation, autism, epilepsy, bilateral muscular atrophy of her extremities, aphasia and 

behavior/mood disorder. She functions on the level of a 2 year old, but communicates on the 
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level of an 18 month old or younger. She has no articulate speech; she laughs or makes “ah” 

sounds when she is happy and often clapping her hands. She is 4 feet, 10 inches tall and weighs 

approximately 140 lbs. When she cooperates, Plaintiff Cates walks with difficulty while 

someone holds her left elbow with one hand and grasps her left hand with the other hand.  This 

ambulation lasts for about 10 steps.  Since it is easier for her to crawl, this is her preferred means 

of ambulation. She uses a wheelchair outside the home.  With assistance, she is able to transfer to 

and from the wheelchair.  Plaintiff Cates requires assistance with bathing, dressing, brushing 

hair, oral hygiene, feminine hygiene, preparation and eating of food, diapering and toileting.  She 

frequently engages in aggressive behaviors like hitting, pinching slapping, biting, kicking, 

pulling hair and throwing objects. She has broken her mother’s eye glasses several times and has 

broken one of her teeth. The only time she does not require personal assistance or the presence of 

a personal assistant is when she is asleep, but even then a personal assistant must be present in 

the event of an emergency. Her physical limitations persist despite receiving occupational and 

physical therapy in her home. 

183. Plaintiff Cates currently receives 14 hours per day of personal assistant services. 

Her mother provides uncompensated care at least ten hours per day. There are no other family 

members or friends available to provide uncompensated care. 

184. Defendants have notified Plaintiff that her hours of personal assistance will be 

limited to 215 hours a month if she chooses to remain in her home with her mother. Because she 

requires more hours than Defendant will provide, she will have to move out of her home. 

185. If her hours are reduced, she will not be able to stay in her home with her mother, 

and will have to move into a supported living placement to receive the exact same services she 

receives now.  In addition, the State will need to replace the uncompensated care her mother 
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currently provides for her. Due to her aggressive behavior, Plaintiff Cates will require an 

individual placement. Because she needs one-on-one care 24 hours per day, the cost of a safe and 

appropriate supported living placement will exceed what the state is currently paying for her 

personal assistance services.  

186. Plaintiff James (“Jimmy”) Cooper is 53 years old.  He lives with his sister and 

brother-in-law in Maryville, Tennessee in Blount County.  He has resided with his sister since 

his mother’s death in 2004.  Plaintiff Cooper’s diagnoses include Mental Retardation, Down 

Syndrome, GERD, Irritable Bowel Syndrome, choking and aspiration secondary to swallowing 

disorder and dementia. He requires assistance with all of his basic self-care and daily living 

activities, including dressing, meal planning and preparation, personal hygiene, toileting, 

incontinence, money management, all transfers, walking, household chores, accompaniment to 

medical and other appointments. He has a history of imbalance and frequent falls. Plaintiff 

Cooper was physically active and ambulatory until September of 2010 when he lost the use of 

both of his legs.   He also suffers from severe back damage.  He now requires a wheelchair for 

ambulation.  Due to his profound mental retardation, he is unable to communicate pain, hunger, 

illness, hunger or thirst.  He is at high risk of aspiration. Eating is also a significant problem. 

James will frequently projectile vomit and choke on food.  He is unable to turn himself from a 

supine position and therefore, must sleep elevated in an upright position. Plaintiff Cooper is a 

large man and requires three people to transfer outside the home.   Inside the home, he uses a 

Hoyer lift to transfer from bed to his wheelchair.  He requires continuous care and monitoring 

and cannot be left unattended.   
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187. Plaintiff Cooper currently receives 16 hours of personal assistance services, seven 

days a week, which he has been receiving through the DIDD Waiver since April 30, 2007.  His 

sister and brother-in-law provide uncompensated care of at least 8 hours per day.  

188. Defendants have notified Plaintiff that his hours of personal assistance will be 

limited to 215 hours a month if he chooses to remain in his home with his family. Because he 

requires more hours than Defendant will provide, he will have to move out of his home. 

189. If his hours are reduced, Plaintiff Cooper will have to leave the only home he has 

known since his family cannot provide the care he requires. The only alternative for Plaintiff 

Cooper would be supported living in a residential setting alone or with other persons with similar 

disabilities away from his family. Because he needs one-on-one care 24 hours per day, the cost 

of a safe and appropriate supported living placement will exceed what the state is currently 

paying for his personal assistance services.  

190. Plaintiff Nakitha Davis is a 45 year old Medicaid recipient who lives with his 

family in Memphis, Tennessee.  His diagnoses include severe mental retardation and epilepsy. 

He also has been diagnosed with hypotonic quadriparesis, secondary to cortical and cerebral 

atrophy on right side and a severe speech articulation deficit. He also has degenerative arthritis of 

the knees, hips and back.  He is incontinent.  His oral communication is very limited and 

therefore he requires an augmentative communicative device. He needs complete assistance with 

all activities of daily living. He must be monitored frequently to prevent rashes and skill 

infections.  His sleep patterns are irregular and he frequently doesn’t go to sleep until 3 A.M.    

191. He receives 18 hours per day of personal assistance services, seven days per 

week.  He also receives 30 hours per week of community-based day services. His family 

provides approximately five hours of uncompensated care per day. His sister had to quit her job 
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to care for him. His niece also serves as one of his PAs. He is intolerant of someone he does not 

know touching him. Due to his mother’s advanced age and health, it is not possible for her to 

provide support.   

192. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Davis that his hours of personal assistance 

services will be limited to 215 hours per month if he remains in his home with his family. 

Because Plaintiff requires more hours than Defendant will provide, he will have to move out of 

his home. He cannot receive appropriate care in supported living because the intense oversight 

provided by his family would not be present resulting in a reduced quality of service. He was 

previously placed in supported living and had seizure resulting in physical injuries. He also did 

not receive timely administration of his medications which resulted in hospitalization. For this 

reason he would be unsafe in supported living.  

193. Plaintiff Carrie Evamarie (“Marie”) Dunaway is a 31-year-old woman who lives 

with her mother in Madison, Tennessee. She has moderate mental retardation, cerebral palsy, 

Kyphosis (curving of the spine that causes a bowing or rounding of the back), scoliosis, Graves 

Disease (a type of Thyroidism), dysphagia (an impairment of the ability to verbally communicate 

and swallow due to damage or degeneration of the brain), severe spastic quadriplegia resulting in 

severe loss of motor function in all four limbs and head, and sleep apnea. She is non-verbal and 

has to be fed and diapered. She must be repositioned every 2-3 hours. She is fed through a PEG 

tube which is done around her mother’s work schedule. She cannot be left alone at any time. She 

faces many dangers during the night, and so she must be closely watched all night. These 

dangers include choking on sinus drainage and sustaining injuries from thrashing against or 

getting caught in her bedrails, even though they are padded. Although she is non-verbal, she has 

excellent receptive communication skills and uses facial expressions to communicate.  
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194. Plaintiff Dunaway receives personal assistance services approximately 424 hours 

per month. She has been receiving PA services since 2002 through the DIDD Waiver. These 

hours are arranged around her mother’s work schedule. On weekdays, she has PA services from 

midnight to 8 am and from 3 pm until midnight (17 hours per day, Monday through Friday). 

During the week, she also attends a day program for seven hours per day. Every weekend, she 

has PA services on Saturday from 3:30 pm until midnight and on Sunday from midnight until 8 

am. She also has PA services on Sunday afternoon from 3:30 pm until midnight. Every other 

Saturday, she has PA services from 8 am until 3:30 pm. 

195. Her mother provides uncompensated care when she is not working; however, she 

works three jobs. Nursing tasks are scheduled around her mother’s schedule so that paid nursing 

services are not necessary. Her mother also has sleep apnea and must sleep with a C-PAP 

machine at night. Because of this, she is unable to hear Plaintiff Dunaway if she needs assistance 

at night. As such, Plaintiff Dunaway requires awake overnight staff.  Through her father’s 

employer, she has private insurance which covers all of her medical expenses and some other 

expenses. PA services and diapers are not covered. Her 28 year-old brother also helps with 

feedings, but works full time and has unpredictable hours. Her father, who does not live with 

them and also cares for his elderly father, provides very limited assistance with feedings.  

Otherwise, there are no other family members or friends who are able provide uncompensated 

care.  

196. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Dunaway that her PA hours will be limited to 

215 per month sometime in mid-July if she remains in her home with her mother. Her home has 

been modified in order to accommodate her so she can remain there safely. However, because 

she requires more hours than Defendants will allow, she will have to move out of her home.  
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197. If Plaintiff Dunaway is placed in a medical residential facility, the state will have 

to provide care 24 hours per day to replace the PA care and the uncompensated nursing care and 

that her mother currently provides.  Because she needs one-on-one care 24 hours per day, 

including nursing services, the cost of a safe and appropriate placement will exceed what the 

state is currently paying for her PA services. 

198. According to her treating provider, Dr. Michael Callaway , Plaintiff Dunaway 

requires care 24 hours per day, 7 days per week due to her medical conditions, including her 

significant airway control issues due to her underdeveloped jaw, her need to fed through a G-

tube, her tendency to choke on and to aspirate liquids and some solids, her suffering from sleep 

apnea if not continually assisted with keeping her head and neck in the correct position, and her 

tendency to injure herself while thrashing in her sleep. Further, it is Dr. Callaway’s professional 

medical opinion that Plaintiff Dunaway’s mother is “vital to her ongoing care, health and well-

being.” In addition to the uncompensated nursing care provided by her mother such as the 

administration of feedings, the companionship, love and support provided by her mother are 

“just as, if not more, important to her health.”  

199. Plaintiff Marlee Eatherly is 19 years old. She lives with her parents in Mount 

Juliet, Tennessee. She is developmentally delayed and mentally retarded. Although she is mostly 

non-verbal, she communicates with signs and gestures. She has decreased gross and fine motor 

skills and has problems with aspiration when eating. She requires assistance with dressing, 

bathing, and toileting. She eats solids by mouth but due to aspiration risk, she takes liquids 

through a G-tube, which her mother administers around her work schedule so that nurses are not 

required. Plaintiff Eatherly requires constant supervision to keep her from eloping as well as to 

prevent some aggressive behaviors to herself and others. She also has no fears of anything which 
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places her at great risk of injury due to her impulsive behaviors and requires constant 

supervision.  

200. Plaintiff Eatherly receives 61 hours of personal assistance services per week when 

school is in session and 91 hours of personal assistance services per week when school is not in 

session. She has been receiving these services since approximately 1992 through the DIDD 

Waiver. Specifically, during the school year, she receives personal assistance services Monday 

through Friday from 3 pm until 10 pm and on the weekends from 8 am until 9 pm.  During the 

summer, she receives personal attendant assistance services from 8 am until 9 pm, seven days 

per week.  

201. Both of Plaintiff Eatherly’s parents provide uncompensated care for her when 

they are not working. Her mother performs uncompensated nursing tasks around her work 

schedule so that paid nursing services are not required. Both of her parents have to maintain full-

time employment in order to support their household financially. Her mother could not maintain 

employment if there were any reduction in her personal assistance hours. They have no other 

family members or supports who could provide uncompensated care for her. 

202. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Eatherly that her hours of personal assistance 

will be limited to 215 hours per month if she chooses to remain in her home with her family.  

203. If her hours are reduced, she will not be able to stay in her home with her family, 

and will have to move into a supported living placement to receive the exact same services she 

receives now. However, in supported living, the state will have to provide care 24 hours per day 

to replace the uncompensated personal assistance and nursing services that her parents currently 

provide.  Because Plaintiff Eatherly needs one-on-one care 24 hours per day in addition to 
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nursing services, the cost of a safe and appropriate supported living placement with nursing 

visits will exceed what the state is currently paying for her personal assistance services.  

204. According to her primary care doctor, Dr. Robin Pearson, Plaintiff Eatherly 

requires 24-hour care and observation, seven days per week due to her medical conditions, her 

impulsive and sometimes dangerous behaviors, and to monitor her respiratory and airway 

safety.  She also requires assistance with all activities of daily living. According to Dr. Pearson 

and Dr. Kyger, one-on-one care will be necessary in any placement, either in her own home 

where her parents assist in her care, an institutional setting, or other community based setting.  

205. Plaintiff Brooke Essary is 20 years old. She lives in Shelbyville, Tennessee with 

her mother. She has Asberger’s Syndrome, mental retardation, obsessive compulsive disorder, 

depression, Albrights hereditary osteodystrophy, osteoporosis, scoliosis, osteoarthritis, 

rheumatoid arthritis, high cholesterol, asthma, essential hypertension, low potassium, moderate 

spinal stenosis, polycystic ovary disease, tiny, displaced, multicystic, non-functioning right 

kidney from birth, attention deficit disorder with impulsivity, hyperactivity and lack of 

concentration and oppositional defiance disorder. She also has severe and chronic constipation. 

She functions at the level of a 5 year old. She wears a back brace and is in constant pain due to 

two bulging disks and three wedge fractures and ten compression fractures in her spine. Brooke 

requires 15 to 20 medications daily. She often acts impulsively without regard for potential 

dangers. She must be constantly monitored due to these unsafe behaviors, including eloping 

from the house, eating large amounts of food, eating food out of the trash, and engaging in self-

injurious behaviors. She sleepwalks at night and has a sleepwalking-related eating disorder 

which requires constant monitoring when she is out of bed.  She is incontinent and frequently 

soils herself and bed linens.  
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206. Plaintiff Essary receives approximately 230 hours per month of PA services. She 

has been receiving these services since approximately 1998 through the DIDD Waiver. 

Specifically, Plaintiff Essary has personal attendant (PA) services Monday through Friday from 

3 pm until 10 pm and eight hours on Saturday and ten hours on Sunday for 53 hours a week. 

She attends a community-based day program 7 hours per day, five days per week. 

207. Her mother provides uncompensated care for 14 to 16 hours per day on Saturday 

and Sunday and as many as 10 hours per day during the week, depending upon Plaintiff 

Essary’s sleep patterns. Her mother has diabetes, osteoarthritis, osteoporosis, depression, an 

anxiety disorder, and has panic attacks.  She receives Social Security disability benefits because 

she is unable to work due to her impairments. Her mother currently only gets 5-6 hours per 

night of sleep, but some nights she gets close to none. She is already stretched to her limits 

providing the current level of care.  

208. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Essary that her hours will be limited to 215 

hours per month if she remains in her home with her mother. Because she requires more hours 

than Defendants will provide, and her mother is already stretched to the limit, she will have to 

move out of her home.  

209. If her hours are reduced, she will not be able to stay in her home with her mother, 

and will have to move into a supported living placement to receive the exact same services she 

receives now. However, in supported living, the state will likely pay more for her care than paid 

currently for personal assistance services due to replacing the significant amount of 

uncompensated care that her mother provides, including nursing services for medication 

administration.  
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210. Plaintiff Sarah Gunter is a 20-year-old woman who lives with her mother in Deer 

Lodge, Tennessee. She suffers from Profound Mental Retardation, Cerebral Palsy, Angelman 

Syndrome, Premenstrual Dysophic Disorder, Sleep Disorder, Anxiety Disorder, and Chronic 

Relapsing Uticaria (CRU). She is intellectually disabled, non-verbal, very aggressive, and prone 

to violence. She needs assistance from someone else at all times.  Sarah has no concept of harm 

to herself.  She bangs her head against objects when she is excited, and she throws and destroys 

objects around her. She is ambulatory but very unsteady, and there are days she cannot walk at 

all. She cannot use the toilet without assistance, and she is unable to clean herself after toileting.  

She cannot dress or feed herself or prepare food, and she cannot get into or out of bed or the 

bathtub without assistance. She itches constantly as a result of her CRU, and she digs and bites 

her skin in an attempt to eliminate the itching. She takes medication, but the help provided by 

the medication is limited. She also requires constant supervision due to the biting and itching. 

Additionally, she has difficulty sleeping and is awake most of the night.  

211. Sarah receives personal assistance 18 hours per day, seven days per week (or 

approximately 540 hours per month). She has been receiving these medically necessary services 

since approximately 2005 through the DIDD Waiver. 

212. Sarah’s mother is 50 years old and provides all of her personal assistance services. 

Her mother is divorced, and her father lives outside the home and is disabled. Her father is 

unable to assist with daily care.  Sarah has an elderly grandmother residing outside the home, 

whom Sarah has attacked in the past.  Due to her violence to others and herself, her mother 

cannot work outside the home. Previously, Sarah had staff that assisted her mother to provide 

personal assistance services.  However, she became violent and attacked the staff, and the staff 

refused to continue working with her. Consequently, Sarah’s mother has been unable to find 
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another person to provide personal assistance because of Sarah’s violent behavior and their 

remote location.  Her mother has given up her job outside the home to become Sarah’s full-time 

personal assistance.  Her mother worked with the local school system and also as a care 

provider agency outside the home prior to caring for Sarah full-time.  Without the personal 

assistance services, her mother will be required to work outside of the home for income.   

213. Defendant has notified Plaintiff that her hours of personal assistance will be 

limited to 215 per month if she chooses to remain in her home with her mother. Because Sarah 

requires more hours than Defendant will provide, she will be forced out of her home. 

214. If Sarah’s hours are reduced, she will not be able to stay in her home with her 

mother and will be forced to move into a supported living placement to receive the exact same 

services she receives now. However, in supported living, the state will have to provide care 24 

hours per day to replace the 18 hours of daily compensated care that her mother provides.  

215. Plaintiff Tanya Harden is 51 years old. She lives in Chattanooga, Tennessee with 

her mother and stepfather. She is diagnosed with mental retardation, obsessive compulsive 

anxiety disorder, autism, interposes wasting of hand muscles, profound hearing loss bilaterally, 

constipation, allergic rhinitis, diabetes, and cortical blindness. She is also a breast cancer 

survivor. Without medication, the symptoms of OCD will spiral out of control. She will engage 

in repetitive actions such as buttoning and unbuttoning her clothes continuously, dressing and 

undressing, straightening things around her such as anything on a table, dishes in a cabinet, 

clothes in her closet, picking lint etc.  Her obsessions include picking the hairs out of her head 

and touching her eyes. She has had many infections as a result of touching her eyes repeatedly. 

This is magnified in the area of sanitation because she has extremely poor bathroom hygiene 

without staff assistance. She will engage in these behaviors to the point that she becomes 
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physically aggressive if someone tries to stop her. She requires assistance with activities of 

daily living, including preparing and cooking all foods, setting appointments, grooming, 

prompting to take baths, setting temperatures for bath, getting in and out the car, opening doors, 

prompts to take of all medications, and money management.  She also requires assistance with 

transportation to go into the community such as shopping, buying groceries, and etc. She 

requires close supervision during the day awake hours and during the night.   Due to her 

deafness and blindness in one eye it is important to have a PA to be with her at all times. 

216. Plaintiff Harden currently receives PA services 24 hours per day. Her mother 

provides uncompensated care in the form of personal assistance with the help of the PA, making 

medical appointments, activities of daily living and behavioral support. This uncompensated care 

totals or amounts to approximately six hours per day. Her mother also provides uncompensated 

care in the form of substantial architectural accessibility modifications made to their home to 

enable Plaintiff Harden to live there. However, her mother’s health is dramatically declining. She 

has a tendency to overpower her mother because she knows that she is in failing health and is 

unable to move as quick or stop her actions.  Due to her mother’s declining health, she is unable 

to provide any additional uncompensated care.  

217. Defendants have notified Plaintiff that her personal assistance hours will be 

limited to 215 per month. Because Plaintiff requires more hours than Defendant will provide, she 

will have to move out of her home. Plaintiff Harden lived in a developmental center for years.  

When she was taken out of the center, she received supportive living services. She cannot 

receive appropriate care in a supported living environment because she cannot verbally 

communicate her needs and wants. She engaged in aggressive behaviors while she lived out of 

the home.  Due to her aggressive behaviors and her need for overnight, awake staff, her 
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placement outside of her mother’s home will likely cost more than the current personal 

assistance services. 

218. Plaintiff Donnie Nelson is 36 years old.  He lives with his mother, Kay Weaver.  

His diagnoses include profound mental retardation, Cerebral Palsy, a seizure disorder, chronic 

constipation and chronic drooling.  He does not have functional verbal communication but can 

indicate some wants and needs by gestures.  He has seizures multiple times each day.  Due to his 

seizure disorder, he must wear a chest harness on his wheelchair to prevent injuries. He requires 

complete assistance for all his activities of daily living skills.  He is unable to turn himself at 

night.  He must be turned every two hours to avoid bedsores.  He is also at risk of aspiration and 

must follow a strict diet.  He uses a wheelchair for ambulation.   

219. Plaintiff Nelson has received Personal Assistance (PA) services through the 

DIDD Waiver since January 1998.  He receives 18 hours of PA services every day, Monday 

through Friday.  He receives 24 hours of PA services every Saturday and Sunday.   During the 

weekdays, he attends the Cerebral Palsy Center in Knoxville, Tennessee for six hours.  He 

receives an additional 12 hours of PA per month to assist him when the Center is closed or he is 

unable to attend due to illness.  

220. Defendants have notified Plaintiff that his hours of personal assistance will be 

limited to 215 hours per month if he chooses to remain in his home with his mother. If assistance 

services are reduced to less than 8 hours per day, his mother must quit her job outside of the 

home to care for him.  If she is required to quit her job, Plaintiff Nelson and his mother will lose 

their home.   

221. Alternatively, if his hours are reduced, he will have to move into a supported 

living placement to receive the exact same services he receives now. However, his doctors say 
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that he can be safe only with support services 24 hours a day. According to Plaintiff Nelson’s 

treating neurologist, he does not tolerate any change.  The slightest change in any aspect of his 

life results in increased seizure activity requiring hospitalization.  Leaving his home will have a 

significant and demonstrable adverse impact on the quality and possibly the length of his life.    

222.  Plaintiff Jack (“Ryan”)Patterson is thirty-eight years old and lives in his home 

with his parents in Goodlettsville, Tennessee.  He suffered a traumatic brain injury at birth which 

led to hydrocephalus. He is diagnosed with mild mental retardation, discoid lupus, high 

cholesterol, hydrocephalus, chronic headaches and uncontrolled tonic clonic and grand mal 

seizures. He has complete blindness in his right eye and limited vision in his left eye. He is six 

feet two inches tall and weighs 200 pounds. He has seizures four to five times a week and can 

have more than one per day. He requires constant care, and he cannot be left alone.  He has 

uncontrolled seizures at all times during the day which can result in falls or he becomes wedged 

into places where he cannot be easily removed.  

223. He has received sixteen hours per day personal assistant services since 2005. His 

mother is a paid personal assistant for eight hours per day. She was asked by the agency to be an 

employee because they could not find other qualified employees.  His father also provides 

uncompensated care, including transporting him and caring for him at night. Because of his risk 

from falling out of bed as a result to keep him safe his mother stays in the bed with him but gets 

very little uninterrupted sleep because of his seizures and his needs at night. His seizure activity 

during the night leave his parents exhausted and they seldom get more than three hours of 

uninterrupted sleep due to his seizures.      

224. His parents are in their late 60's and are not in good health.  His mother is a retired 

teacher and has not sought the personal assistance job, however, no one could be found by the 
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provider to fill it, so she does, at risk to her health. His mother suffers from arthritis, 

osteoarthritis, plantar fasciitis, and has battled breast cancer.  The father has multiple health 

problems which include scoliosis, arthritis, and metal pins in his ankle all of which limits the 

father’s ability to assist in the care of his son. 

225. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Patterson that his hours of personal assistance 

will be limited to 215 hours per month if he chooses to remain in his home with his parents. 

Because he requires more hours than Defendant will provide, he will have to move out of his 

home. 

226. If his hours are reduced, he will have to move into a supported living placement to 

receive the exact same services he receives now. However, in supported living, the state will 

have to provide care 24 hours per day to replace the extensive uncompensated care that his 

parents currently provide, as well as all other informal supports. Because he needs one-on-one 

care 24 hours per day, the cost of a safe and appropriate supported living placement will exceed 

what the state is currently paying for his personal assistance services. 

227. Plaintiff Stephanie Payne is a 44-year-old woman who lives with her family in 

Memphis, Tennessee. Her diagnoses include mental retardation, cerebral palsy, seizure disorder, 

hypertonicity, and arthritis. She is non-ambulatory, has verbal and physical aggression, and has 

hallucinatory and non-compliance behaviors. She needs maximum assistance with chores, 

laundry and food preparation, personal hygiene, bathing, changing clothes, and diapers. She uses 

a wheelchair.   

228. She receives 10 hours per day of PA services during the week and 16 hours per 

day on the weekend. Her sister provides uncompensated care for approximately ten hours at 

night. Her mother is unable to care for her without assistance from a PA during the day due to 
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her mother’s health and inability to lift over ten pounds. She also receives CB Day services for 

six hours a day during the week. 

229. Defendants have notified Plaintiff that her hours of personal assistance will be 

limited to 215 hours per month if she chooses to remain in her home with her family. Because 

she requires more hours than Defendant will provide, she will have to move out of her home. 

230. If her hours are reduced, she will not be able to stay in her home with her family, 

and will have to move into a supported living placement to receive the exact same services she 

receives now. However, in supported living, the state will have to provide care 24 hours per day 

to replace the uncompensated care that her sister currently provides, including all other informal 

supports provided by her family.  Because she needs one-on-one care 24 hours per day, the cost 

of a safe and appropriate supported living placement will exceed what the state is currently 

paying for her personal assistance services. 

231. Plaintiff Nikita Robinson is a 56-year-old woman who lives with her sister in Oak 

Ridge, Tennessee. She suffers from Profound/Severe Mental Retardation, Schizophrenia, 

Diabetes Type II, Hypertension, Ventral Hernia, and Insomnia. She is intellectually disabled, 

very aggressive and prone to violence, and has limited verbal skills. She speaks in one or two 

word sentences, e.g. yes, no, mama, too tight. While she can verbalize, she is not easily 

understood.  She cannot clearly verbalize pain or concern.  She needs constant assistance from 

someone else to perform the activities of daily living. She must be line of sight supervision.  She 

is able to self ambulate.  She requires verbal prompting with bathing and personal hygiene and 

grooming.  She requires physical assistance with combing her hair.  She cannot prepare food or 

clean herself after toileting. She cannot monitor her diabetes. She also needs constant assistance 

from someone else to protect her from herself and to protect others around her. She is 
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ambulatory, and she attempts to flee from her care givers. She is allergic to many mental health 

medications, and the weaker alternatives do not address her mental illness. At night, she is awake 

most of the time.  She has a history of getting up at night and getting in the refrigerator and 

eating whatever is in the home to eat.  She will eat until she makes herself sick. 

232. She exhibits aggressive behavior towards staff and other individuals.  She has 

extreme anxiety, screams, yells, and cries.  Her self-injurious behaviors include picking the skin 

on her fingers, hitting herself in the head.  She hurts others and herself, and she destroys property 

when she is upset.  She ripped a dashboard out of an automobile while it was moving because 

she was angry.  Her mental illness exacerbates her aggression. She has no concept of harm to 

herself or others during her hallucinations. She is allergic to many mental health medications.  

She must take weaker mental health medication which does not address her mental illness. 

233. Plaintiff Robinson receives 18 hours personal assistance Monday through Friday 

and 24 hours on Saturday and Sunday (or approximately 593 hours per month). She has been 

receiving services through the DIDD Waiver since November 1995.   She has been receiving 

medically necessary personal assistance services through the DIDD Waiver for several years.   

234. Her sister, Charlotte Robinson, is 51 years old and her main caregiver. She is a 

single parent and also disabled.  In addition to caring for Plaintiff Robinson, Charlotte also cares 

for her for own profoundly mentally and physically disabled daughter. Plaintiff Robinson’s 

mother is 84 years old. She recently broke her hip and is currently recovering in a nursing home. 

Nikita’s father is deceased. Plaintiff Robinson receives community-based day services Monday 

through Friday for 6 hours per day. The remaining time, she receives personal assistance 

services.  
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235. Defendant has notified Plaintiff Robinson that her hours of personal assistance 

will be limited to 215 per month if she chooses to remain in her home. Because she requires 

more hours than Defendant will provide, she will be forced out of her home. 

236. If Plaintiff Robinson’s hours are reduced, she will not be able to stay in her home 

and will be forced to move into a supported living placement to receive the exact same services 

she receives now.  However, this is not likely to be successful. Previously, she had residential 

habitation services in a group home but was removed due to her violent behavior.  

237. Plaintiff Jaime Lynn Sharpe is 34 years old. She lives in Hampshire, Tennessee 

with her parents. She has cerebral palsy, Turner Syndrome, and severe allergies. She also has 

vision issues necessitating two prior eye surgeries, severe dental issues due to almost no palette 

in her mouth and needs to be closely monitored during meals. She uses a wheelchair and is non-

verbal. She requires assistance with all activities of daily living.  

238. Plaintiff Sharpe currently receives approximately 400 hours of personal assistance 

services per month. Specifically, she receives 9 hours of PA services Monday through Friday. 

She goes to day program for 6 ½ hours Monday through Friday.  She also receives 48 hours of 

PA services from 8 am Saturday until 8 am Monday. 

239. Her parents provide as much assistance as possible with her care. However, her 

father had a brain tumor in 1994 that left him incapacitated. He is very unsteady on his feet and 

cannot even assist with transferring her. Attempts to do this in the past have resulted in falls. Her 

mother has two ruptured disks in her back and one bulging disk. She has been told to not lift over 

five pounds. Prior attempts to care for Plaintiff Sharpe when one of the sitters was ill resulted in 

her father being severely injured for about three weeks and her mother being unable to work for 

about a week and a half. Her mother must work to help financially support their household and 
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works 12 hour shifts on the weekends. She works from 5 am to 9 pm Monday through Friday, 7 

pm to 7 am on Saturdays and 12 pm to 12 am on Sundays. She is on call 7 days per week as the 

Director of Nursing for Behavioral Health Care in Columbia, Tennessee.  

240. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Sharpe that her hours will be limited to 215 

hours per month if she remains in her home with her family. Because she requires more hours of 

care than Defendants will provide, she will have to move out of her home to receive the same 

services she is currently receiving, albeit under a different name.  

241. If her hours are reduced, she will not be able to stay in her home with her family, 

and will have to move into a supported living placement to receive the exact same services she 

receives now. However, in supported living, the state will have to provide care 24 hours per day 

to replace the uncompensated personal assistance that her parents currently provide.    

242. Plaintiff Stephanie Smith is 51 years old and lives in Murfreesboro, Tennessee 

with her 73-year-old father and her sister who works full time to support the family. She has 

mental retardation and cerebral palsy. She needs help with all activities of daily living. She is 

unable to walk without assistance. She must be fed in small bites or she will choke because she 

won’t chew her food. She does not know when it is time to use the toilet so her PA takes her to 

the toilet every two hours. Because she impulsively walks into possibly dangerous or injurious 

situations, it is necessary for her to be constantly monitored for safety.  

243. Plaintiff Smith receives 337 hours per month of PA services. She also attends a 

day program for 8 hours per day from Monday to Friday. She has to use a gait belt to stabilize 

her when she attends her day program. She has been receiving these services since 1982 through 

the DIDD Waiver.  
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244. Her father is 73 years old and had a stroke in 2009. He is also currently receiving 

daily treatment for cancer and must visit the doctor every two weeks for follow up. He is 

physically unable to care for her by himself. Her sister works full time and is gone from 6 am 

until 6 pm daily. 

245. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Smith that her hours will be limited to 215 

hours per month if she remains in her home with her family. Because she requires more hours 

than Defendants will provider, she will have to move out of her home.  

246. If her hours are reduced, she will not be able to stay in her home with her family, 

and will have to move into a supported living placement to receive the same services she 

receives now. However, in supported living, the state will pay more for her care than paid 

currently for personal assistance services.  

247. Plaintiff Michael Spaulding, Jr. is 35 years old. He lives in Thompson’s Station, 

Tennessee with his parents. He has cerebral palsy, severe sleep apnea, mental retardation and is 

quadriplegic. He requires assistance with all activities of daily living including bathing, eating, 

toileting, transfers, and rolling over in bed.  He uses a wheelchair and a walker. Due to his sleep 

apnea, he requires a C-PAP machine to help him breathe. The mask on the C-PAP machine must 

be properly fitted at all times. He needs constant monitoring at night to ensure that the hoses are 

kept open and the mask stays on at night. He also needs to be turned at night to avoid bedsores.  

248. Plaintiff Spaulding receives 132 hours of personal assistance (PA) services per 

week. He has been receiving these services since 1999 through the DIDD Waiver. Specifically, 

he receives PA services Monday through Friday for 20 hours per day and he receives 16 hours 

per day of PA services on Saturday and Sunday.  
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249. His mother and father provide uncompensated care for 36 hours per week. There 

are no other family members or friends who can provide uncompensated care to keep him in his 

home. Michael’s father has severe arthritis, has had 3 hip replacements, carpal tunnel surgery, 

back treatments, a heart attack, and has high blood pressure. His rotator cuffs are irreparable. 

Nonetheless, he assists with transferring him to and from his wheelchair because it requires two 

people to do this.  

250. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Spaulding that his hours will be limited to 215 

per month if he remains in his home with his parents. Because he requires more hours than 

Defendants will provide, he will have to move out of his home.  

251. If his hours are reduced, he will not be able to stay in his home with his family, 

and will have to move into a supported living placement to receive the exact same services he 

receives now. However, in supported living, the state will pay more for his care than paid 

currently for personal assistance services because they will have to replace the uncompensated 

care that his parents now provide.  

252. Plaintiffs Charles, Deanna and Theresa Steiner are siblings. They were adopted 

by Edward and Bettie Steiner, now deceased, through a program that was operated by the 

Tennessee Department of Human Services for the adoption of special needs children. They have 

lived together in the family home for over twenty years. Their adopted sister, Karen Steiner, lives 

with them. She is fifty years old, is legally blind and is 4’ 11” tall.    

253. Charles Steiner is 37 years old. He is diagnosed with severe intellectual disability, 

cerebral palsy, congenitial spastic quadriplegia, and incontinence. He uses a wheelchair, bath 

chair, lift system, QOF (a positioning device), and multiple other assistive devices.  
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254. Theresa Steiner is 28 years old. She is diagnosed with mild intellectual disability, 

spastic/dystonic cerebral palsy, dysphagia, and aspiration. She uses a wheelchair, ECO 

communication device, bath/toilet chair, easy stand, and multiple other assistive devices.  

255. Deanna Steiner is 23 years old. She is diagnosed with severe intellectual 

disability, severe cerebral palsy, severe asthma, scoliosis, spasticity, and cortical visual 

impairment. She uses arm splints on and off, a communication device, a wheelchair, nebulizer, 

bath chair, along with multiple other assistive devices.  

256. They all require total assistance with activities of daily living, including bathing, 

transferring, toileting, hygiene, grooming, dressing, meal preparation, feeding, housekeeping, 

and community integration. They are at risk for skin breakdown and aspiration and are unable to 

communicate their basic needs and wants. Charles is verbal but very difficult to understand. 

Theresa and Deanna both need communication assistive devices. All require total care during 

their awake hours.  

257. Charles Steiner currently receives 14 hours of personal assistance services per 

day, while Deanna and Theresa Steiner currently receive 13 hours of personal assistance services 

per day. They have been receiving these services since approximately 2007 through the DIDD 

Waiver. 

258. They live with their sister, Karen Steiner. She is able to care for her siblings, but 

needs assistance to safely care for all three throughout the day. She cannot transfer her siblings 

from their wheelchairs by herself or even with the assistance of the lift. Due to a visual 

impairment, she cannot drive a vehicle and cannot drive any of her siblings to physician 

appointments or on any other outings.  
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259. Defendants have notified them that their hours will be limited to 215 hours per 

month if they choose to remain in their family home with their sister, Karen. Because they 

require more hours than Defendants will provide, they may have to move out of their home.  

260. Although Karen Steiner is committed to do everything in her power to keep her 

brother and sisters from being removed from their home, she already provides at least 10 hours 

of uncompensated care to each of her three siblings per day. If the imposition of the DIDD limit 

forces Charles, Deanna, and Theresa Steiner to leave their home, the state will have to provide 

care 24 hours per day to replace the uncompensated personal assistance services that their sister 

currently provides.  The cost of a safe and appropriate supported living placement will likely 

exceed what the state is currently paying for her personal assistance services.  

261. Plaintiff Kristina Stevens is 22 years old and lives with her father and step mother 

in Tullahoma, Tennessee. She is 5 feet tall and weighs 185 pounds. She has hydrocephalus with 

shunt placement, profound mental retardation with an IQ below 20, spina bifida, spinal cord 

defect at T-12, polyuria, constipation, and incontinence. She functions at the level of a 6 to 12 

month old. She is non-verbal and requires constant one on one care. She requires side by side 

contact when ambulating because she is a fall hazard due to her extremely poor balance, a 

sequela of brain surgery at birth. She requires total assistance with bathing, dressing, brushing 

hair, oral hygiene, feminine hygiene, preparation and eating of food (due to choke hazard), 

diapering (checked/changed at least every 2 hours), toileting and all other activities of daily 

living. She must be monitored even during her sleep to prevent her from trying to get up without 

assistance, to ensure her evacuation in the event of a life threatening emergency, and because she 

is prone to self abuse, biting her wrists when she is upset or wants something.  
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262. Plaintiff Stevens currently receives personal assistance 10 hours a day, 7 days a 

week (approximately 303 hours a month), provided by her father , who has been certified as a 

personal assistant. She has been receiving these medically necessary services since 

approximately January 2010 through the DIDD Waiver. However, she has been receiving DIDD 

Waiver personal assistance services since 2005 in amounts that have ranged between 6 hours and 

16 hours per day. 

263. Her father and step mother provide uncompensated care 14 hours a day, 7 days a 

week. However, due to her stepmother’s medical restrictions, she can only provide visual 

monitoring, primarily 6 hours a day while Plaintiff Steven’s father sleeps. There are no other 

family supports who could provide uncompensated care. Her parents divorced in 1989, but they 

shared responsibility for her care until her mother became too ill in March 2007 to provide any 

of her care, and her father stopped working  to devote all his time to taking care of her.  

264. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Stevens that her personal assistance will be cut 

to 215 hours per month, if she chooses to remain at home with her father and step mother. 

Because she requires more hours than the defendants will provide, she will have to move out of 

her home.  

265. If her hours are reduced, then she will have to move into a supported living 

placement to receive the exact same services she receives now. However, in a supported living 

facility, the defendants will have to provide care 24 hours a day, 7 days a week to replace the 14 

hours a day of uncompensated care that her father and step mother currently provide, including 

all the other informal supports they furnish. Because she needs one-on-one care 24 hours a day, 

the cost of a safe and appropriate supported living placement will exceed what the defendants are 

currently paying for her personal assistant services.  
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266. Plaintiff Sandra Gail Turner is a 42 year old woman who lives with her family in 

Whitwell, Tennessee. Her diagnoses include Bi-polar II disorder, hypomanic depression, impulse 

Control disorder, mild mental retardation, chronic otitis media, hypertension, urinary 

incontinence, and constipation.  

267. Plaintiff Turner currently receives 12 hours per day of personal assistance as 

prescribed by her physician to address the symptoms of her impairments, including physical 

aggression, verbal aggression, stealing, as well as other negative behaviors which place her and 

others at risk of harm. She has been receiving these and other services through the DIDD Waiver 

in August 2004.  

268. Her family currently provides 12 hours per day of uncompensated care and cannot 

provide any additional care because the family must work to remain fiscally solvent. 

269. Plaintiff Turner has been notified that her hours will be limited to 215 hours per 

month if she remains at home with her family.  Because she requires more hours than Defendants 

will provide, she will have to move out of her home.  

270. However, she cannot receive appropriate care in a group-based setting due to her 

aggressive physical and verbal assaults, as well as her penchant for stealing.  She has previously 

been placed in three group settings and two community-based day service settings, all which 

were disastrous and ultimately led to her current placement, where she has been successful.  

271. Plaintiff Raymond Walker is 29 years old.  He lives with his father in Harriman, 

Tennessee in Roane County.  He has received Personal Assistance (PA) services since April 19, 

2004.   His medical diagnoses include: cerebral palsy, severe mental retardation, atypical 

psychosis, chronic constipation, and autism.  He is a risk of multiple falls.  He has an unsteady 

gait.  He is incontinent at night. Plaintiff Walker is a large individual and cannot function 
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independently, although with assistance and supervision he is capable of various tasks.  While he 

is verbal, it is very difficult to understand him.  He requires assistance with all activities of daily 

living, including feeding, dressing, and hygiene care.  He has little understanding of danger or 

dangerous situations.  He also suffers from dysphagia (swallowing disorder) placing him at risk 

for aspiration.  

272. After an individual assessment, Defendants approved and currently provide 

Plaintiff Walker with personal assistant services 23 hours a day, seven days per week.   Plaintiff 

Walker becomes very upset in the presence of strangers.  In the past, he has not been able to live 

with other persons due to his personality and his violent behavior.  When he is away from his 

father, he becomes very anxious, aggressive and violent toward himself and others.  He has a 

history of property destruction when he is upset and it is very difficult to redirect him.   

273. Defendants have notified Plaintiff Walker that his hours of personal assistance 

will be limited to 215 hours per month if he chooses to remain in his home with his father. 

Because he requires more hours than Defendant will provide, he will have to move out of his 

home. 

274. If his hours are reduced, he will not be able to stay in his home with his father, 

and will have to move into a supported living placement to receive the exact same services he 

receives now. However, in supported living, the state will have to provide care 24 hours per day 

to safely care for him as well as replace all other informal supports provided by his father.  

Because he needs one-on-one care 24 hours per day, the cost of a safe and appropriate supported 

living placement will exceed what the state is currently paying for his personal assistance 

services. 
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CAUSES OF ACTION 
 

First Claim for Relief: Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act and  
Non-segregated, Most Integrated Setting 

 
275. Plaintiffs adopt and restate paragraphs 1 through 274 of this Complaint. 

276. Defendants have and will continue to administer DIDD services and programs in 

violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act.  42 U.S.C. § 12132. 

277. Plaintiffs are individuals with disabilities in that they have physical and other 

impairments that substantially limit one or more of their major life activities, including but not 

limited to walking, bathing, toileting, eating and standing. 

278. Plaintiffs are qualified persons with disabilities in that they are capable of safely 

living at home with their families with necessary services, and they meet the essential eligibility 

requirements for the receipt of services from and participation in the State Medicaid program 

with reasonable modification to the rules, policies, and practices of that program, 42 U.S.C. 

§12131(2).  

279. Serving named Plaintiffs in their homes with their families is an integrated, non-

segregated setting that can be reasonably accommodated. Without reasonable modification of the 

rules, policies, and procedures governing the Tennessee’s Medicaid program, named Plaintiffs 

are at a risk of being isolated and segregated in residential settings with only other disabled 

persons.  They do not want to reside in a residential setting with only other disabled persons.  

280. Title II of the ADA prohibits Defendants from discriminating against individuals 

with disabilities in programs and activities.  42 U.S.C. §§ 12131 and 12132.  Congress stated that 

“individuals with disabilities continually encounter various forms of discrimination, including … 

segregation.”  42 U.S.C. § 12101(5).   
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281. Title II prohibits providing services in unnecessarily segregated residential 

settings and requires that “a public entity shall administer services, programs, and activities in 

the most integrated setting appropriate to the needs of qualified individuals with disabilities.”  

See 28 C.F.R. § 130(d).  

282. Defendants are obligated, under the ADA, to administer their programs and 

services that assist persons with their activities of daily living in integrated, non-segregated 

residential setting for individuals with disabilities – in their own homes with their families. 

283. Defendants’ denial of appropriate Medicaid in-home health services, so that 

named Plaintiffs could avoid segregation in a residential supported housing setting with only 

other persons with disabilities and remain in the integrated home setting that are appropriate to 

their needs, constitutes unlawful discrimination in violation of Title II of the Americans with 

Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12132, and its implementing regulation, 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(d). 

Second Claim for Relief:  Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act  
and Methods of Administration 

 
284. Plaintiffs adopt and restate paragraphs 1 through 274 of this Complaint. 

285. Defendants have and will continue to use methods of administration that subject 

plaintiffs to discrimination in violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

286. Plaintiffs are at risk of being forced to enter segregated residential settings and are 

qualified to participate in more integrated community programs that meet their needs – their own 

homes with their families. 

287. Title II of the ADA prohibits Defendants from discriminating against individuals 

with disabilities.  42 U.S.C. §§12131 and 12132. 

288. Regulations implementing Title II of the ADA provide that “a public entity may 

not, directly or through contractual or other arrangements, utilize criteria or methods of 
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administration: (i) That have the effect of subjecting qualified individuals with disabilities to 

discrimination on the basis of disability; [or] (ii) That have the purpose or effect of defeating or 

substantially impairing accomplishment of the objectives of the public entity’s program with 

respect to individuals with disabilities…” 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(3). 

289. Defendants utilize methods of administration that have the effect of subjecting 

individuals with disabilities to discrimination by forcing them to move to segregated residential 

settings in order to receive the same services they could receive in their own homes and that 

establish a segregated residential system, rather than provide services in the most integrated 

residential setting appropriate to the needs of Plaintiffs.   

290. Defendants’ administration results in subjecting named Plaintiffs to the risk of 

unnecessary residential segregation.  

291. Providing appropriate community-based personal care services to named 

Plaintiffs in their own homes with their families is not a fundamental alteration of Defendants’ 

programs.  In fact, until the promulgation of the new rules, Plaintiffs received those services in 

their own homes. 

Third Claim for Relief: Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act  
and “Most Integrated Setting” Mandate 

 
292. Plaintiffs adopt and restate paragraphs 1 through 274 of this Complaint. 

293. Defendants have and will continue to fail or refused to administer services and 

programs in the most integrated setting in violation of Section 504. 

294. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794, provides:“No otherwise 

qualified individual with a disability… shall, solely by reason of her or his disability, be 

excluded from participation in, be denied benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any 

program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance.” 
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295. The Defendants are recipients of Federal financial assistance. 

296. Plaintiffs, who currently reside in their own homes with their families and who 

are at risk of being forced to moved to segregated residential settings in order to receive 

appropriate personal care services, are qualified to participate in the integrated, community-

based residential settings. 

297. Serving named Plaintiffs in the non-segregated residential settings – in their own 

homes with their families - can be reasonably accommodated and has been until the 

promulgation of the new rules. 

298. Defendants violate Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act by failing to administer 

services to named Plaintiffs in no segregated residential settings, the most integrated setting 

appropriate for them. 28 C.F.R. § 41.51(d). 

Fourth Claim for Relief: Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act  
and Methods of Administration Mandate 

  
299. Plaintiffs adopt and restate paragraphs 1 through 274 of this Complaint. 

300. Defendants have and will continue to use methods of administration that subject 

Plaintiffs to discrimination in violation of Section 504. 

301. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794, prohibits Defendants from 

discriminating against individuals with disabilities. 

302. Regulations implementing Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act provide that a 

“recipient may not, directly or through contractual or other arrangements, utilize criteria or 

methods of administration: (i) That have the effect of subjecting qualified individuals with 

disabilities to discrimination on the basis of disability; [or] (ii) That have the purpose or effect of 

defeating or substantially impairing accomplishment of the objectives of the public entity’s 

program with respect to individuals with disabilities…” 28 C.F.R. § 41.51 (b)(3)(i) and (ii). 
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303. The Defendants are recipients of Federal financial assistance. 

304. Defendants utilize methods of administration that have the effect of subjecting 

individuals with disabilities to discrimination by conditioning appropriate personal care services 

in segregated residential settings.   

305. Defendants utilize methods of administration that will establish a segregated 

residential system rather than provide personal care services in non-segregated settings.  

Fifth Claim for Relief On Behalf of Plaintiffs under 21 Years of Age: 
Early Periodic Screening, Treatment, and Diagnosis (EPSDT) 

 
306. Plaintiffs adopt and restate paragraphs 1 through 274 of this Complaint. 

307. Defendants have and will continue to implement limitations on services in 

violation of EPSDT by applying these limitations to children under the age of 21. 

308. The Defendants have failed to provide or arrange for necessary EPSDT treatment 

services for the Plaintiffs and members of the Plaintiff class which are required to treat or 

ameliorate their mental or physical conditions, in violation of 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396a(a)(10)(A), 

1396a(a)(43), and 1396d(r).   

309. The Defendants have failed to effectively inform children and their families of the 

specific treatment services available under EPSDT, which has the effect of denying these 

services to needy children, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(43). 

310. These violations, which have been repeated and knowing and under color of state 

law, entitle Plaintiffs to relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

Sixth Claim for Relief:  Defendants Have and Will Continue to Deprive Plaintiffs Due Process 
Protections In Violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution 

311. Plaintiffs adopt and restate paragraphs 1 through 274 of this Complaint. 

312. As Medicaid-eligible persons and participants in the DIDD Waiver, Plaintiffs      
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enjoy interests in receiving those services that will enable them to remain safely with their homes 

with family and loved ones and not in a segregated residential setting away from family, friends 

and community.   

313. These interests are protected under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution and cannot be deprived under color of state law without due process. 

314. Under the TennCare program, due to the fiscal incentives of managed care, 

Plaintiffs are entitled to strong due process safeguards under the Fourteenth Amendment.  

Daniels v. Wadley, 926 F. Supp. 1305, 1308 (M.D. Tenn. 1996).  For these Plaintiffs with 

profound intellectual and severe developmental disabilities, even stronger due process safeguards 

are required. 

315. Some Plaintiffs previously suffered neglect and abuse that endangered their lives 

while institutionalized and segregated from family, friends and community.  All Plaintiffs have 

demonstrated that they can live safely in the community in their homes with appropriate support 

services.  Defendants have targeted limitations on these services only for those who are currently 

living in their homes with appropriate support services.  Defendants do not limit identical or 

similar services in other residential settings like Supported Living or Medical Residential 

services. 

316. Defendants’ practices and procedures alleged herein violate the Due Process 

clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution by, among other things: 

a. Denying Plaintiffs services without an individualized assessment or in 

contradiction of individualized assessments; 

b. Denying Plaintiffs services without notice and an opportunity for a full and fair 

hearing based on assumptions or presumptions unsupported by evidence that       
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i) segregated care is less expensive than the services they currently receive in their 

families’ home, ii) segregated care is available to meet each Plaintiffs’ 

individualized needs, iii) segregated care will be as safe, effective and/or efficient 

as the services they currently receive in their families’ homes,  or, iv) segregated 

care can be provided in a manner that maintains family and community supports 

and relationships. 

317. These violations, which have been repeated and knowing and under color of state 

law, entitle Plaintiffs to relief under the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. 

318. Unless restrained, Defendants have and will continue to deprive Plaintiffs of due 

process guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court: 
 
A. Issue a declaratory judgment pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201 and Fed. R. Civ. P. 57 

that: 

 (1) Defendants’ denial of funding for plaintiffs’ necessary and appropriate in-home 

nursing services constitutes unlawful discrimination in violation of Title II of the ADA and 

Section 504; and,  

(2)  the across-the-board reductions in nursing and personal assistance care announced in 

the March 7, 2011 and May 9, 2011 notices, as those reductions are applied to the plaintiffs, 

constitute unlawful discrimination in violation of Title II of the ADA and Section 504. 

B. Grant a preliminary and permanent injunction requiring the Defendants, their 

agents, successors, and employees to: 
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(1) Continue to provide nursing and personal assistance services without limitations 

to all plaintiffs who have been receiving them until Defendants correct the practices and 

procedures alleged herein; and  

(2) Comply with the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. 

Constitution to require notice and an opportunity for hearing regarding i) whether the cost of 

ADL and/or nursing services in the homes of Plaintiffs’ families will, in fact, cost more than 

ADL and/or nursing services in Supported Living outside the family home and/or Medical 

Residential placement or other segregated setting; ii) whether ADL and/or nursing services in a 

segregated setting outside the homes of Plaintiffs’ families will provide them and/or others 

adequate safety; and iii) wehter ADL and/or nursing services in a segregated setting outside the 

hours of Plaintiffs’ families are located to enable Plaintiffs’ to maintain family supports and 

relationships as well as community contacts and participation;   

C. Declare the Defendants’ denial of funding for Plaintiffs’ necessary and 

appropriate in-home nursing services constitutes unlawful discrimination in violation of Title II 

of the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act and enjoin such 

denials. 

D. Declare the implementation of limitations on personal assistance and nursing 

services without adequate and meaningful notice and opportunity for full and fair hearing in 

violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the Medicaid Act. 

E. Maintain the injunction described in section B, above, until such time as 

Defendants implement strong due process safeguards to protect Plaintiffs from improper denial, 

termination, reduction or suspension of services required for all activities of daily living and 

nursing needs in the home with their families without an individualized assessment and based on 
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Stephen F. Gold (PA Bar No. 9880) (pro hac vice to be submitted) 
125 S. 9th Street, Suite 700 
Philadelphia, PA 19107 
(215) 627-7100, ext 227 
stevegoldada@cs.com 
 
Judith Gran (PA Bar No. 40134) (pro hac vice to be submitted) 
REISMAN CAROLLA GRAN, LLP 
19 Chestnut Street 
Haddonfield, NJ 08033 
(856) 354-0061 
jgran@reismancarolla.com 
 
Sarah Somers (NC Bar No. 33165) (pro hac vice to be submitted) 
NATIONAL HEALTH LAW PROGRAM 
101 E. Weaver Street, Suite G-7 
Carrboro, NC 27510 
(919) 968-6308 
somers@healthlaw.org  
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